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Directors' Report

For the year ended 30 September 2012

he Directors submit the annual report and audited financial statements of Avon Rubber p | ¢ {"the Company”) and the Avon
Rubber group of companies, (“the Group*) for the year ended 30 September 2012 The Company is registered in England and Wales

with company registration number 00032965

Pnncipal activities and business review

The principal activities of the Group are the design and
manufacture of respiratory protection products for defence, first
responder and mdustrial users, together with the design and
manufacture of a range of polymer based products for the dairy
and defence industries

The business review, which includes information on the Group’s
development and performance durnng the year, commentary
on future developments and a description of how the Company
manages principal nsks and uncertainties 1s set out on pages
10t0 24

Financial results and dividend

The Group profit for the year after taxation amounts to
£7,829,000 (2011 £7,118,000} Full details are set out in the
income statement on page 56

An interim dividend of 1 2p per share was paid in respect of the
haif year ending 31 March 2012 (2011 10p)

The Directors recommend a final dvidend of 2 4p per share
(2011 2 Op)resulting In a total dividend distnbution per share
for the year to 30 September 2012 of 3 6p (2011 3 Op)

Share capitai

Detalls of the Company’s share capital, including rights and
obligations attaching to the shares, are set out In note 19 of
the financial statements The issued share capital consists of
ordinary shares with a nominal value of £1, all of which are fully
paid up, rank equally in all respects and are listed on the Official
List and traded on the London Stock Exchange The nghts and
obligations attaching to the Company’s shares are set out In
the Company's Articles of Association ("Articles”), copies of
which can be obtained from Companies House or by wnting to
the Company Secretary Shareholders are entitled to receive
the Company's reports and accounts and to attend, speak and
exercise voting rights Oncluding by proxy) at general meetings
There are no restrictions on the transfer of 1ssued shares or on
the exercise of voting nghts attached to them, except where
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the Company has suspended their voting nghts or prohibited
their transfer following a failure to respond to a notice to
shareholders under section 793 of the Companies Act 2006, or
where the holder s precluded from transfernng or voting by
the Finanaial Services Authonty’s Listing Rules or the City Code
on Takeovers and Mergers The 1,400,642 shares held in the
names of the two Employee Share Ownership Trusts on a jointly
owned basis or as a hedge agalnst awards previously made or
to be made pursuant to the Performance Share Plan are heid on
terms which provide voting rights to the Trustee and, in certain
carcumstances under the terms of joint ownership awards, to the
recipient of the awards

The only significant agreements to which the Company 1s

a party which take effect, alter or terminate upon a change

of control of the Company following a takeover bid are the
bank loan agreements and the performance share plan The
agreements relating to the £5,000,000 and U5$15,500,000
revolving credit facihty made available to the Company by
Barclays Bank PLC and the $15,000,000 revolving credit facility
made avallable to the Company by Comerica Bank would
become repayable upon a change of control of the Company
and are therefore considered significant in terms of potential
impact on the business of the Group as a whole if there was a
change of control A change of contro! will be deemed to have
occurred if any person or persons acting in concert {(as defined
in the City Code on Takeovers and Mergers) at any time 15/

are or become(s) interested in more than 50% of the 1ssued
ordinary share capital of the Company Under the rules of the
Performance Share Plan, on a takeover a proportion of each
outstanding grant will vest The number of shares that vest is to
be determined by the Remuneration Committee, including by
reference to the extent to which the performance conditions
have been satisfied and the number of months that have
passed since the award was made The employment contracts
for the Executive Directors do not contain any specific right to
compensation for loss of office on a takeover bid
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Substantial shareholdings

At 6 November 2012, the following shareholders held 3% or
more of the Company's 1ssued ordinary share capital -

Schroder Investment Management 19 33%
BlackRock Investment Management 11 29%
Henderson Global Investors 10 32%
Cazenove Capital Management 5 01%
Avon Rubber p I ¢ Trustees 4 56%
EFG Harns Allday 344%
M&G Investment Management 327%

Acquisition of own shares

During the year the Directors had the power to make purchases
of up to 4,608,492 of the Company’s own shares in 1ssue during
the year on the basis as set outin the explanatory note on

page 113 No share purchases were made by the Company
dunng the year but it did fund the purchase of 90,000 shares
with a nominal value of £1 each by one of the Employee Share
Ownership Trusts as described in note 19 The Directors also had
the authority to allot shares up to an aggregate norminai value
of £10,241,097 which was approved by shareholders at the 2011
annual general meeting in addition, shareholders approved

a resolution giving the Directors a hmited authority to aliot
shares for cash other than pro rata to existing shareholders
These resolutions remaln vahd until the conclusion of this
year's annual general meeting when resolutions to renew these
authonties will be proposed Dividends on shares held by the
Employee Share Ownership Trusts have been waived

Directors

The names of the Directors as at 2t November 2012 are set out
on page 25

The Company's rules about the appointment and replacement
of Directors, together with the powers of Directors, are
contained in the Articles Changes to the Articles must be
approved by specaal resolution of the shareholders

During the year there have been no changes to the membership
of the Board Mr DR Evans succeeded Sir Richard Needham

as Chairman at the 2011 annual general meeting Sir Richard

has remained as a Board member but will retire from the

Board at the 2012 annual general meeting on 7 February 2013
As announced to shareholders on 21 November 2012, on 1
December 2012 Mr R K Wood will be appointed to the Board

as a Non-Executive Director None of the Directors have a
beneficial interest in any contract to which the Company or

aven

any subsidiary was a party duning the year Beneficial interests
of Directors, theu farmilies and trusts in ordinary shares of the
Company can be found on page 51

The Board s satisfied that Sir Richard Needham, Mr D R Evans
and M5 S J Pine are ndependent Non-Executive Directors
Each has a service agreement and detatls of these are contained
in the Remuneration Report on page 51

Mr DR Evans retires by rotation and, being eligible, offers
himself for re-election

The Board confirms that Mr Evans has contnibuted substantially
to the performance of the Board Mrs S J Pinie, the Senior
Independent Non-Executive Director gives full support to

Mr Evans' offer of re-election and draws the attention of
sharehalders to his profile on page 25

Mr R K Wood retrres under Article 79 and, being eligible, offers
himself for re-election

As part of the Board's annual evaluation process, each
Director undertook a performance evaluation which included
considening the effective contribution of Board members

All Executive Directors’ service contracts with the Company
require one year's notice of termination, subject to retiremnent,
currently at age 60 for Mr PC Slabbert and 65 for Mr A G Lewis
Neither of the Executive Directors is currently appointed as a
non-executve director of any hmited company outside

the Group

Directors’ and Officers’
indemnity insurance

Suhject to the provisions of the Compantes Act 2006 (*the
Act”), the Articles provide for the Directors and Cfficers of

the Company to be appropnately indemn:fied In accordance
with section 233 of the Act the Company has arranged an
appropniate Directors and Officers insurance policy to provide
cover in respect of legal action against its Directors

In 2006 the Company’s Articles were amended to allow the
Company to provide the Directors with funds to cover the

costs incurred in defending legal proceedings The Company is
therefore treated as providing an indemnity for its Directors and
Company Secretary which 1s a qualifying third party indemnity
provisten for the purposes of the Act

profit after
tax up

10%
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Directors' Report

For the year ended 30 September 2012

Research and development

The Group continues to utibse its technical and matenals
expertse to further advance its products and remain at the
forefront of technology in the field of polymer technology and
materials engineertng The Group maintains i1ts inks to key
universities in the US and UK and continues to work with new
and existing customers and supplers to develop 1ts knowledge
and product range Total Group expenditure on research and
development in the year was £6,627,000 (2011 £6,558,000)
further details of which are contained in the Bustness Review on

pages 10to 24

Through Artis, the Group's research and development arm, the
Group 1s recognised as a world leader in understanding the
composition and use of polymer products

Environmental and corporate
social responsibtlity

Matters relating to environmental and corporate social
responsibility are set out at the end of this report on pages
30to 35

Political and charitable contributions

No political contributions were made dunng the year or the
prior year Contributions for charitable purposes amounted to
£17,725 {2011 £15,337) consisting exclusively of numerous smalf
donations te various community charrties in Wiltshire, Michugan,
Wisconsin, Georgia and Mississippi

Financial nstruments

An explanation of the Group policies on the use of financial
instruments and financial nsk management objectives are
contained in note 18 of the financial statements

Post balance sheet events

There have been no significant events affecting the Company or
Group since the year end

investing 1n innovation

28 Avon Rubber pl ¢ Annual Report and Actounts 2012

Statement of Directors’ responsibilities
for preparing the financial statements

The Directors are responsibie for preparning the Annual Report,
the Remuneration Report and the financial statements in
accordance with applicable law and regulations

Company law requires the Directors to prepare financial
statements for each financial year Under that law the Directors
have prepared the Group financial statements 1n accordance
with International Financial Reporting Standards {IFRSs) as
adopted by the European Union, and the parent company
financial statements in accordance with United Kingdom
Generally Accepted Accounting Practice {United Kingdom
Accounting Standards and applicable law) In preparing the
Group financiat statemenits, the Directors have also elected

to comply with IFRSs, 1ssued by the international Accounting
Standards Board {IASB) Under company law the Directors must
not approve the financial statements unless they are satisfied
that they give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the
Group and the Company and of the profit or loss of the Group
for that period In preparing these financial statements, the
Directors are required to

- select suitable accounting policies and then apply them
consistently,

- make judgements and accounting estimates that are
reasonable and prudent,

- state whether IFRSs as adopted by the European Umion and
IFRSs 1ssued by IASB and applicable UK Accounting Standards
have been followed, subject to any maternal departures
disclosed and explained in the Group and parent company
financial statements respectively,

« prepare the finanaal statements on the going concern basis
unless It 1s inappropriate to presume that the Company will
continue In business

The Directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting
records that are sufficient to show and explain the Company’s
transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any

time the financial position of the Company and the Group and
enable them to ensure that the financial statements and the
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Remuneration Repert comply with the Companies Act 2006
and, as regards the Group financial statements, Article 4 of the
IAS Regulation They are also responsible for safequarding the
assets of the Company and the Group and hence for taking
reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and
other irregulanties

The Directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity
of the Company's website Legislation in the United Kingdom
governing the preparation and dissemination of financial
statements may differ from legislation in other jurisdictions

Each of the Directors, whose names and functions are hsted on
page 25 confirm that, to the best of therr knowledge

- the Group financial statements, which have been prepared in
accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the EU, give a true and fair
view of the assets, liabilities, financial position and profit of the
Group, and

+ the review of the business contained on pages 10 to 24
includes a farr review of the development and performance
of the business and the position of the Group, together with a
descniption of the principal risks and uncertainties that it faces

Creditor payment policy

Operating businesses are respensible for agreeing the terms
and condtions under which business transactions with their
suppliers are conducted it is Group pelicy that payments

are made tn accordance with these terms, provided that

the supplier is also complying with all relevant terms and
condimons For the year ended 30 September 2012, the number
of days’ purchases outstanding at the end of the financial year
for the Group was 24 days (2011 23 days} based on the ratic of
trade creditors at the end of the year to the amounts invoiced
duning the year by trade creditors At 30 September 2012 there
were no trade creditors in the balance sheet of the parent
company {2011 nil)

Aveh

Independent Auditors

Each Director confirms that on the date that this report was
approved so far as they are aware, there was no relevant audit
information of which the auditors are unaware, and each
Director has taken all the steps they ought to have taken as a
Director in order to make themnselves aware of any relevant
audit information and to establish that the Company’s auditors
are aware of that information

The audntors, PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, have indicated
therr willingness te continue in office and a resolution
concerning thetr reappointment will be propesed at the annual
general meeting

Corporate governance

The Company’s statement on corporate governance can be
found in the Corporate Governance Report on pages 36 to 41
The Corporate Governance Repaort forms part of this Directors’
Report and Is incorporated into it by cross-reference

Annual general meeting

The Company’s annual general meeting will be held at its
Hampton Park West faciity, Semington Road, Melksham,
Wiltshire SN12 6NB on 7 February 2013 at 10 30am The Notice of
Meeting can be found on pages 108 to 113 Registration will be
from 10 00am

Miles Ingrey-Counter
Company Secretary
21 Nevember 2012
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Environmental and Corporate Social Responsibility

Annual report on environmental and
corporate social responsibility

The Directors recognise the importance placed in the UK on
how businesses take account of their economic, social and
environmental impact with the aim of addressing their own
compentive Interests at the same time as those of wider society
The Directors acknowledge that this involves balancing the
interests of shareholders, emptoyees, customers, suppliers and
the wider communities in which our businesses operate

As we continue to work to strengthen our position as the world
leader in the markets in which we do business we will also seek
to honour our obligations to society by being an economic,
intellectual and socral asset to each community in which we
operate

At many of our sites we are the largest employer in the local
area As anintegral part of the community we are aware

of the impact the Group has on its local environment and
seek to contribute to s economic, social and environmental
sustainabihity

We also strive to

- manage the Group as a sustainable business for the benefit of
shareholders and cther stakeholders,

aim for the highest standards of health and safety in
the workplace,

develop and motivate our employees, ensuring they are fully
engaged in the Group's strategy, and

minimise waste and emissions that contribute to
chmate change

Business conduct

Our Policy & Code on Business Conduct requires our employees
to carry on their business activities in a way that will attract

the respect of those they deal with and will not bring Avon's
reputation into disrepute This includes complying with the
laws and regulations in the countries in which we operate and
do business The Policy and Code also contains guidance on
avoiding conflicts of interest and managing relationships with
third parties

A copy of the Policy & Code which 15 1n its twelfth version this
year, can be found on cur website, www avon-rubber com

Ethics and anti-corruption

The Policy & Code contains matenal on bnibery and corruption
further to the introduction of the UK Bribery Act 2010, which
includes a new corporate offence of failing to prevent bribery
These areas continue to receive more focus as part of our aim to
uphold the strctest standards of business conduct throughout
the Group and to ensure that the Group would be able to show
that it had adequate procedures in place designed to prevent
bribery from berng committed by those performing services on
its behalf For example, all agents and third parties who act on
behalf of the Group are obliged to comply with the standards
set out in the Policy & Code, which will be incorpeorated into

all written arrangements The Policy & Cede also contains a
whistleblowing procedure which enables any employee or
individuat working for the Group to raise concerns about breach
of policy or malpractice

Investing in
young talent

Student engineer James Carswell used his work experience with Avon to create
a prototype integrated protective helmet and respirator for army personnel

as part of his engtneering project for Brunel University's school of Engineering
and Design James' “Atr Armour” system is designed to provide protection
against traumatic brain injury from exposure to)mprovised explosive

device blasts

Air Armour system

Investing in innovation
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Environmental sustainability

Whilst Avon's facilities and manufactuning processes are low
in environmental impact, the Group 1s committed to ensuring
thatits businesses are as efficient as possible and conductmg
business in ways that are sensitive to the environmental needs
of the communities in which we operate

In our dairy business the urique destgn of our products and
aur innovative technologies allow our customers to benefit
from improved milking efficiency and better ammal health,
increasing output With an ever-increasing world population
and increasing demand for milk products, Avon Dairy
Solutions meets a sccial and economic need through efficient
milk production

Our environmental objectives continue to focus on the
activities of

- Energy consumption
- Waste and recycling
+ Supplier environmental development

Qur aim 15 to ensure our operations and products comply with
relevant environmental legislation and operate in a manner

that 1s committed to continuous Imprevement in environmental
sustainability through recycling, conservation of resources and
prevention of poliutton whilst keeping our supphers informed of
our environmental expectations  As technology improves we
expect to be able to reduce waste further and increase the level
of recychng

Ail manufacturing sites have complied wath local, State and
Federal requirements during the year

Energy consumption

Across the Group we have implemented a number of energy
saving iniiatives  Programmes include

+ wider use of our video conferencing facilities reducing the
need for car and air travel

exchange of existing ighting with high efficiency
fluorescent fixtures

installation of motion detectors to turn off Iighting that 1s
not needed

elimination of offsite warehouses to reduce
utihities consumption

daven

Hampton Park West in Wiltshire 1s registered as a full participant
inthe Environment Agency’s Carbon Reduction Commitment
Energy Efficient Scheme (CRC), making energy saving even more
important, not only to minimise cur iImpact on the environment
but also to manage the cost of future allowances and the
Company’s reputation

Waste and recycling

Duning the year a number of Kaizen programmes have been run
to reduce scrap and increase production efficiency

In the UK, durning 2012 recycling averaged 82% and further
improvements made during the year should result in an increase
i this figure in 2013 All reject rubber components are sent to

a manufacturer of playground safety matenals and our waste
cardboard, paper and polythene 1s recycled We have halved the
general waste sent to landfill, reducing our costs and helping to
fulfil our environmental responsibibity All these improvements
have been achreved through education, training and the
diligence of our employees throughout the year

In the US we are working with the University of Wisconsin

- Madison to find new applications for rubber waste
Dernilitarisation of process scrap for DoD products has already
reduced the volume sent to landfill by 30%-40%

Our research and development arm, Artis, Is working with a
number of organisations to develop new techniques for tyre
recycling We have successfully developed a number of recycled
crumb treatments which will allow upcycling of tyre and other
matenals into higher value products We are also investigating
treatments for other non-rubber materials We continue to
work with a number of external chients involved in a range of
recyching technelogies covering praducts from footwear to rail
components and infrastructure, to pyrolysis processes

Suppliers

We are commutted to working with suppliers in mutually
beneficial ways, and so far as 15 practicable, require that
supphers and contractors act in accordance with the Group’s
values and policies

Investing in iInnovation

Avon Rubber p | ¢ AnnuaiReport and Accounts 2012

31

W

OVERVIEW OF THE YEAR

(

w
w
L
=
@
=
v
=
=2
fo]
=
=2
@
m
=
=
(o]
T

( HOW WE PERFORMED W

SHAREHOLDER INFORMATION

[



Environmental and Corporate Social Responsibility

Health and safety Accident rates across the 5

The Board recognises the importance of health and safety manufactu rng sites durlng 2012

to the business Not only does a safe working environment
contribute to employee well-being, but the prevention of

acadents and personal injury contributes to the running of an OSHA OSHA
efficient business The Group’s stated policy Is that management TOTAL CASE RECORDABLE

ractl nd employee work activity will, so far as reascnabl INCIDENT REPORT ACCIDENTS
practices anc employe ywill ¥ RATE FOR THE YEAR® FOR THE YEAR
practical, ensure the health, safety and welfare at work of its
employees, contracters and visitors, together with the health

L ” Target ” 2012 ” 2011 “Target—” 2012 " 201 l

and safety of all other persons affected by the business activities

of the Group’s operations Hampton Park

West, UK NIL 1 30 NIL 2 4

All of the Group's businesses maintain health and safety systems
that are both comphant with Group policy and appropriate to

the business, with the overall objective of providing a safe and Avon Protection NL || 10 ]| a5 NIL 2 1
healthy workmng environment Acadent rates are consequently Systems, Cadlillac
low across the Group

Hi-Life,

Wi NIL 10 69 NIL 4 9
Monitoring of our safety performance 1s an integral part sconsin
of the Group's operations and is one of the non-financial
key performance indicators reviewed regularly by local |65|- | NIL NIL 55 NIL NIL 3
management cargla

AEF,

Mississlppi NIL 39 81 NIL 1 3

*the number of Occupational Safety and Health Administraticn (OSHA) recordable
injures per 200 600 man hours worked

Investing in our people

Varun Kapoor, one of the young engineers in our design engineenng team,
secured a bursary from the International Society of Respiratory Protection
(ISRP} His paper on the improvement of passive speech transfer through
resplrators and the benefits for speech intelligibthity was presented at the ISRP’s
bi-annual conference

investing In innovation
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Investment in our employees

The Group recognises that motivated and engaged employees
are the key to achieving our corporate goals We are committed
to equality of opportunity in all employment practices, policies
and procedures and to providing motivation and development
in a safe and healthy environment One of our corporate values
15 to motivate our people through appropriate recognition and
reward programmes

We seek to be a modern, flexible, customer service driven
orgamisation whose employees operate in an engaged
envirornment of trust and empowerment The Group's core
values are embodted by the acronym CREED, a set of principles
and cultural values which are rigorously pursued and adhered
to across the Group

C understanding and delivering our CUSTOMER
(internal or external) needs and expectations

R motivating our people through appropriate
RECOGNITION and reward programmes

E providing responsibibty through meaningful
employee EMPOWERMENT

E ensuring a friendly and ENGAGED environment
that embraces worthwhile communications where
innovation Is encouraged

D recognising the value of cultural DIVERSITY and
talent across our businesses

CREED 1s fundamental to Avon's employee Performance
Management Process, which measures and rewards employee
adherence to its values

The Group recognises outstanding individuals through its
‘CREED Heroes’ programme, a quarterly award scheme whereby
employees can nomnate colleagues whom they believe
embody the CREED values in their job performance Each CREED
Hero receives a tangible financial award, wide recognition
across the Group and 1s then shorthsted to receive the annual

-

Engagement of our employees and two-way communication 1s key to the success of the Group Every year the Company runs
an Employee Opinion Survey (EOS), with online access for every employee The EOS gives each employee an opportunity to
provide feedback and to suggest ways in which Avon could improve Employees are asked to put themselves in the shoes of
the Chief Executive who responds personally to all comments

The EQS 15 a clear driver for change and all responses are collated and presented to employees Each site management team
1s then tasked to review each 1dea and suggestion and publish its responses and plans for improvement

The survey results are another of the Group’s key performance indicators

accolade of being Aven's group-wide CREED hero

Target 2012 201
Response rate >50% >52% >54%
Overall score (out of 5) || >3 37 36
| have pnde in being an employee of the company (out of 5) || >3 43 42

The EOS helps to ensure Avon listens to its employees and strives for continuing improvement
K The survey will continue to be an annual forum that helps Avon invest in its people and drive success

)
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Environmental and Corporate Social Responsibility

Avon 1s committed to recognising, developing and recruiting
new talent across the businesses We encourage talented
employees by matching the nght people to the nght roles
and by ensuring professional development opportunities are
available throughout their careers within the Group In the UK
we run a student engineening programme, enabling a second
year university student to spend a year as a member of our
design team, working on new product development In the
US we participate in Georgia Tech’s Co-Operative programme
which allows engineering students to alternate school
semesters with full-time work semesters from their freshman
year to graduation The students help us tackle real-world
engineering problems as they learn about the engineering
profession as well as having the potential for long-term
employment within Avon One of the students who graduated
from this programme now runs the engieernng departmentn
our Georgia facility

Durning the year we implemented group-wide employee share
plans to encourage our staff to participate in the future of

the Group through share ownership All UK employees are
entitled to participate 1n the Share Incentive Plan {SIP) whilst

US employees have been invited to join the Employee Stock
Purchase Plan (ESPP) Both provide the opportunity to purchase
shares through accumulated payroll deductions

Community and charitable contributions

As a responsible member of the communities in which we
operate, we actively encourage our operating companies to
engage posttively with the local community in their areas

In the US we continue to support extracurricular activities
through sponsoting our employees and their children in local
bowling leagues, softball keagues, high school athletics and
ski teams

.

Once again the Salvation Army provided a list of items
required by local families who were ancnymously
“Adopted for Christmas” Avon Protection adopted three
families and also prowvided food for a Christmas meal

Our Cadillac employees continued with Jeans Day Fridays
raising $4,800 which was distnbuted to 12 local societies
and charities

Support Oasis, a local shelter for women who are victims
of domestic abuse was supported by our Cadillac employees
through a can and bottle recycling project

Avon Protection again sponsored the food

distnbutton truck for “Feeding America” in Cadillac

This 1s the third year we have participated Volunteers helped
to distribute food to 145 families In temperatures of almost
100°F Approximately 5 tons of food is given away at

each distribution

Avon Protection donated $1,000 to the Cadillac Chamber

of Commerce "After 26" project and $1,000 to the Stehouwer
Free Climic, a community based, not-for-profit organisation
providing free primary health care to the uninsured

Avon Protection also sponsored a number of local activities
including the independence day celebrations and the festival
of races

Congratulations to
our true hero

Rob Piaseck), a filter fine leader in Cadiliac recelved a commendation from Bay
City {(Michigan) for his heroic efforts in helping to save a little girl from a house
that had caught fire Rob ran into the burning building and rescued the little
girf from the upper storey, exiting just before the side of the house collapsed
The girl suffered some burns and smoke inhalation but made a full recovery in
hosprital

Rob Piaseckl with his cemmendation
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Investing in the local community

A group of young engineers represented Avon at a local school,
Melksham Oak on their design and technology careers day The team
answered questions from year 9 pupils on how best to pursue careers in
their chosen fields and the benefits of a design related vocation Several
longer term collaborations with the school are now in the pipeline,
aimed at fostering design and engineering talent focally and attracting
local talent into the Group

Avon engineers with puplls from Melksham Oak Community School

In the UK the Group maintains a fund with the Community n addition
Foundation for Wiltshire and Swindon, a chanty dedicated

to strengthening local communities in West Wiltshire by
targeting 1ts grants to make a genuine difference to the lives of
local people

Qur Melksham employees continued our support of a number
of chanties including Dorothy House Hospice Care, Barnardos
and the National Blind Children's Society by sponsored events
and collections

Avon’s fund provided grants to We also took part in a chanty Easter Egg Mountain gathening

again this year for various chanties including St Mungo's
Chanty for the homeless and Genesis Housing

HELP Counseiling - a volunteer counselling service taking
referrals from social workers and doctors to help clients
suffering fong and short term problems including
bereavement and cancer

Wiltshire Music Centre - which holds workshops with schools
for young disabled students and has an education centre
where programmes are held including engaging disabled
people with creating and composing music or receiving

music therapy

Holt Luncheon Club - a club for residents of Holt aged 60 and
over, giving isolated older people the opportunity to have a
frashly cooked hot meal and meet friends from the village
Our grant paid for the hall hire costs for a year

Miles Ingrey-Counter
Company Secretary
21 November 2012

.

Trowbndge Rangers FC — 15 a youth football club holding
weekly trainmng sessions and matches along with fundraising
events They aim to keep youngsters occupied and engaged
in sport and activities with a view to reducing anti-social
behaviour Our donation will help train coaches to the
required standards and help with the purchase of equipment

AFC Melksham - this is a football club for local people in the
Wiltshure area Our donation will help with the purchase of
equipment and training to ensure compliance with Football

Association changes
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Corporate Governance

Statement of compliance with the UK Corporate Governance Code (2010)

he Board of Directors believes in high standards of corporate governance, notwithstanding the Company’s position

outside the FTSE500, and 15 accountable to shareholders for the Group’s performance in this area This statement

describes how the Group is applying the relevant principles of governance, as set out in the UK Corporate Governance
Code (2070) {"the Code") which is available on the website of the Financial Reporting Counall ("FRC™) The Board is applying the
May 2010 version of the Code for the financial year commencing 1 October 2011,

The Company 15 a smaller company for the purposes of the Code
and 1n consequence certain provisions of the Code either do not
apply to the Company or may be judged to be disproportionate
or {ess relevant in 1ts case

The Board considers that, subject to the Senior Independent
Director not attending meetings with the major shareholders
to histen to their views (which 1s explained further below)

the Company met the requirements of the Code throughout
the year ended 30 September 2012 This statement wili
address separately the main subject areas of the Code namely
Leadership, Effectiveness, Accountability and Relations with
Shareholders Remuneration is dealt with in the Remuneration
Report on pages 42 to 55

The Board confirms that 1t has been applying the procedures
necessary to implement the Turnbull Guidance on how to apply
the section of the Code dealing with internal contral

Leadership and effectiveness

Dunng the year the Board of Aven Rubber pl ¢ comprised a
Charrman, two Non-Executive Directors (“the Non-Executive
Directors”), and two Executive Directors who are the Chief
Executive and the Group Finance Director The Board treats the
two Non-Executive Directors as independent During the year
Sir Richard Needham stood down as Chairman of the Board
but remained a Non-Executive Director and was treated as
anindependent Non-Executive Director MrD R Evans
succeeded Str Richard as Chairman Sir Rechard will retire from
the Board in February 2013 A new, independent Non-Executive
Director, Richard Wood, has been recruited with effect from 1
December 2012

All Directors submit themselves for re-election at regular
intervals of not more than three years and are subject to
re-election at their first annual general meeting after
appointment The Board s aware of the FRC's suggestion that
companies cutside the FTSE 350 should consider the annual
re-election of all directors On the basis that thisis not a
requirement of the Code and it has not been raised as an 1ssue
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by any shareholders the Board has chosen not to change its
existing practice Non-Executive Directors submit themsetves
for annual re-election if they have served for more than 9 years
since first election Addimionally, the Non-Executive Directors are
appolinted by the Board on terms which allow for termunation
on three months' notice

Biographies of the Directors appear on page 25 These illustrate
the range of business and financial expertence which the

Board s able to call upen The intention of the Board is that

1ts membership should be balanced between executives and
non-executives and have the appropriate skills and experience
The special positton and role of the Chairman under the Code 1s
recognised by the Board and a written statement of the division
of responsibilities of the Chairman and Chief Executive has
been agreed The Chairman is responsible for the leadership

of the Board and ensunng its effectiveness on all aspects of its
role and the Chief Executive manages the Group and has the
prime role, with the assistance of the Board, in developing and
implementing business strategy

One of the roles of the Non-Executive Directors under

the leadership of the Chairman is to undertake detailed
exarmnation and discussion of strategies proposed by the
Executive Directors, so as to ensure that decistons are in the best
long term interests of shareholders and take proper account of
the interests of the Group's other stakeholders The Chairman
ensures that meetings of Non-Executive Directors without the
Executive Directors are held

duven




How the Board operates

The Charman ensures through the Company Secretary that the
Board agenda and all relevant information is provided to the
Board sufficiently in advance of meetings and that adequate
time 1s avallable for discussion of all agenda items, in particular
strategic issues The Chief Executive and the Company Secretary
discuss the agenda ahead of every meeting At meetings

the Chairman ensures that all Directors are able to make an
effective contribution throughout meetings and every Director
is encouraged to participate and provide opinions for each
agenda item The Chairman always seeks to achieve unanrmous
decisions of the Board following due discussion of agenda
items The Non-Executive Directors fully review the Group's
operational performance and the Board as a whole has, with

a view to reinforcing its oversight and control, reserved a list

of powers solely to itself which are not to be delegated to
management This list includes appropnate strategic, financial,
organisational and comphance issues, embracing the approval
of high level announcements, crculars and the report and
accounts and certain strategic and management 1ssues

Examples of strategic and management issues include
the following

- approval of the annual operating budget and the
three year plan

» the extension of the Group’s activities into new business
and geographic areas {or their cessation)

« changes to the corporate or capital structure

- finanaial 1issues, including changes in accounting policy,
the approval of dividends, bank facilities and guarantees

- changes to the constitution of the Board

« the approval of significant contracts, for example the
acquisition or disposal of assets worth more than £1,000,000
or the exposura of the Company or the Group to a nisk greater
than £1,000,000

- the approval of unbudgeted capital expenditure
exceeding £250,000

- the approval of quotations and sale contracts where the sales
commission payable to an intermediary exceeds 10% of the
net Invoice price

duen

Each Director has full and timely access to all relevant
mformation and the Board meets regularly with appropriate
contact between meetings All Directors recerve an induction
from the Company Secretary on joining the Board When
appointed, Non-Executive Directors are made aware of and
acknowledge their ability to meet the time commitments
necessary to fulfil their Board and Committee duties Procedures
are in place, which have been agreed by the Board, for Directors,
where necessary in the furtherance of thew duties, to take
independent professional advice at the Company's expense

and al! Directors have access to the Company Secretary The
Company Secretary 1s responsible to the Board for ensuring

that all Board procedures are complied with The removal of the
Company Secretary is a decision for the Board as a whole

Performance evaluation

An internal annual performance evaluation was undertaken

by the Board during the year and there are no plans to

move towards an externally facihtated evaluation (which

15 compulsory for FTSE 350 companies) at thus time The
Chairman acted as the sponsor of the evaluation process

and each Director was required to score a questionnare

for review by the Board and appropriate Committees The
Company Secretary acted as facilitator to the Board and issues
ansing from the process were incorporated into the Board’s
business as appropriate Within the evaluation exercise, the
Board addressed three key areas, the extent to which the

Board focuses on the nght issues, interacts effectively and

has the nght mechanics in place The evaluation prompted a
discussion which covered the consideration given to social and
environmental 1ssues and whether the Board communicated
effectively with the management team, employees and
shareholders The evaluation concluded that the Board operates
well and the Board Committees operate effectively In partrcular
the Board contnbutes valuably to strategy, has appropriate
matters reserved to it for its decision and commits the necessary
time to be effective
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Corporate Governance

Statement of compliance with Combined Code

Committees of the Board

Of particular Importance In a governance context are the thiee
committees of the Board, namely the Remuneration Committee,
the Nominatrons Commuttee and the Audit Committee The
members of the Committees comprise the Chairman and all

the Non-Executive Directors The Non-Executive Directors
continue to regard the Chairman as adding significant value to
the deliberations of the Audit Committee and his membership
1s ratified by Provision € 31 of the Code, which permits hsted
compantes outside the FTSE 350 to allow the chairman to

sit on the audit committee where he or she was considered
independent on appointment Mrs S J Pine remains Chairman
of the Audit Committee and Senior Independent Non-Executive
Director The Board is satisfied that Mrs Pirie has recent relevant
financial expenence and her profile appears on page 25 MiDR
Evans has chaired the Nominations Committee since February
2012 Prior to thus Sir Richard Needham was Chairman but this
rote was fulfilled by Mrs Pinie as Senior Independent Non-
Executive Director when dealing with the appointment of Sir
Richard’s successor as Chairman of the Board Mr DR Evans was
Chairman of the Remuneration Committee until February 2012
when this role was taken on by Sir Richard Needham

The Remuneration Committee’s principal responsibilities are

to decide on remuneration policy on behalf of the Board and

to determine remuneration packages and other terms and
conditions of employment, including appropriate performance
related benefits, for the Executive Directors and other senior
executives The Chief Executive and the Company Secretary
attend meetings of the Committee by invitation, but are absent
when issues relating to each of them are discussed More details
of the activities of the Remuneration Committee are set out In
the Remuneration Report on pages 42 to 55

The Nominations Committee, to which the Chief Executive

1 normally invited, reviews the Board structure, Jeads the
process for Board appointments and makes recommendations
to the Board, including on Board succession planming The
Nominations Committee evaluates the balance of skills,
knowledge and experience on the Board and, in hght of

this evaluation, prepares a descnption of the role for new
appointments Inidentfying potential candidates for positions
as Non-Executive Directors, the Commuttee has full regard to
the principles of the Code regarding the independence of Non-
Executive Directors

The Committee met towards the end of the year to discuss the
appaintment of a Non-Executive Director in place of Sir Richard
Needham, who retires from the Board at the annual general
meeting in February 2013
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Audit Committee Report

Main responsibilities

Reviewing the effectiveness of the Company’s financial
reporting, internal contral policies and procedures for
the identification, assessment and reporting of nsk

» Reviewing significant financial reporting 15sues
and judgements

- Monitonng the integnty of the Company's
financial statements

- Keeping the relationship with the auditors under
review, Including their terms of engagement, fees
and independence

+ Monitoring the role and effectiveness of the internal
audit function

Activities duning the year

The Audit Committee meets three times a year The meetings
are also attended by the Executive Directors and usually

by representatives of the Group’s external auditors At
meenings attended by the external auditors time 15 2llowed
for the Audit Committee to discuss issues with the external
auditors without the Executive Directors being present An
annual rolling agenda is reviewed to ensure that all matters
within the Audit Committee’s Terms of Reference during the
year are appropnately covered The Commuttee operates
under formal terms of reference and these are reviewed
annually The Commuttee considers that it has discharged
its responsikilities as set out in its terms of reference to the
extent appropnate dunng the year There were no changes
to the terms of reference in the year under review

Financial reparting

Duning the year the Committee reviewed the
appropriateness of the Group's ha!f year and full year
financial statements including considening significant
financial reporting judgments made by management, taking
into account the reperts of the Group Finance Director and
the external auditors In addition the Committee reviewed
and recommended the approval of the statements on
corporate governance, internal control and risk management
in the annual report and the half year and interim
management statements
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External auditors

The Committee oversees the relationship with the external
auditors and monitors all services provided by and fees payable
to them, to ensure that potential conflicts of interest are
considered and that an objective and professional refationship
1s maintained

In particular the Committee reviews and monitors the
independence and objectivity of the external auditors and the
effectiveness of the audit process The Committee also keeps
under review the nature, extent, objectivity and cost of non-
audit services provided by the external auditors

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP have been the Company's
external auditors for a number of years In November 2011

the Committee reviewed the external audit mandate and
confirmed the continuing appointment of PwC This was on the
basis that the Committee was comfortable that the PwC audnt
team remained independent on the basis of the regular rotation
of the audit partner, although it was agreed to review this
annually moving forward It was also noted that the external
audit and tax comphance fees had reduced year on year for the
previous three years Whilst there is currently no regulatory or
governance requirement to rotate the external audit mandate,
in order to ensure the independence and objectivity of the
external auditors and avoid a situation where the auditor's
familiarity with the Group's affaws results in excessive trust, the
Committee maintains an Auditor Independence Policy which
was also reviewed in November 2011 This policy provides

clear definitions of services that the external auditors can and
cannot provide They may only provide non-audit services
where those services do not conflict with their independence,
for example tax compliance work A formal authonsation policy
15 1n place for the provisten of non-audit services to ensure

that appropriate pre-approval is obtained as necessary The
latest version provides that non-audit services with a value of
mare than £50,000 or which cumulatively exceed the annual
audit fee require sign off by the Chairman of the Board This
approach was preferred to capping the value of non-audit
services performed by the external auditor by reference to

the external audit fee The policy also establishes guidelines
for the recruitment of employees or former employees of the
external auditor Te ensure compliance with this policy the
Audit Committee carried out a review during the year of the
remuneration received by PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP for

audit services, audit-related services and non-audit work

The breakdown of the fees paid to the external auditor,
including the spht between audit and non-audit fees, 1s
included i note 4 on page 69 to the financial statements
These reviews ensure a balance of objectivity, value for money
and compliance with this policy The outcome of these reviews
was that no conflicts of interest existed between such audnt
and non-audit work

Internal control

The Committee regularly reviews the effectiveness of the
Group’s system of internal controls and risk management

This involves the monitoring and reviewing of the effectiveness
of internal audit activities, which included a review of the audits
carned out and the results thereof, the management response
and the pregramme and rescurcing for 2012 and 2013

The Board believes it is appropnate that the internal audit
process 15 undertaken by members of the finance team who
conduct financial reviews of the sites on a rotational basis

In addition, site controllers and plant managers are obliged
to positively confirm, on a bi-annual basts, that the controls as
documented in the Internal Control Manual are in place and are
being adhered to, with specific reference to key controls such
as bank and control account reconciliations This process has
been in place for the year under review and up to the date of
approval of the annual report and financial statements

It has been reviewed by the Board and continues to be
monitored by the Audit Committee, which remains satisfied
with the arrangements

During the year, no significant failings or weaknesses were
identified by the internal audit process but several minor
improvements were identified and implemented Most of the
outstanding process 1ssues identified through the internal audit
will be remedied by the intreduction of the new ERP system

In 2013

As part of its work, and in hne with its terms of reference,

the Committee also considers the discharge of the Board's
responsibtlities in the areas of corporate governance,

financial reporting and internal control, ncluding the internal
management of nsk, as identified in the Turnbull Guidance
Risk management activities are dealt with in more detail below
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Corporate Governance

Statement of compliance with Combined Code

Meetings during year ended 30 September 2012

Board Audit  Remuneration Nominations

Committee Committee Committee

S ) Puie g 3 5 1
Sir Richard Needham ¢ 3 4 1"
DR Evans 9 3 5 1
PC Slabben 9 3 5 1"
AG Lewss 9 3 1"

* Artendance by Invitanon

The Board schedules 8 or 9 regular meetings per year This

year 4 further meetings have been held on an ad hoc basis,
including by telephone conference, for example in connection
with amendments to banking facilities, bid pncing and internal
transactions In addition, between them, the three Non-Executive
Directors visited the Lawrencewville and Baltimore facilities
accomparied by the executive management team to meet
management at these sites and receive presentations

from them

Copies of the terms of reference of the Nominations,
Remuneration and Audit Committees and the terms and
conditions of appointment of the Non-Executive Directors are
avallable on the Company’s website or from the

Company Secretary

Relations with shareholders

The Directors regard communications with shareholders as
extremely important All members of the Board receive copies of
analysts’ reports of which the Company 1s made aware Interms
of published matenals the Company 1ssues a detalled annual
report and accounts and, at the half year, an interim report
Interim management statements have beenissued during the
year, together with a number of other event updates Dialogue
takes place regularly with institutional shareholders and general
presentations are given following the prelimmnary and intenm
results The Board receives comments from analyst meetings and
shareholder meetings after both interim and final results and at
other umes duning the year Shareholders have the opportunity
to ask questions at the annual general meeting and also have
the opportunity to leave wnitten questions with the Company
Secretary for the response of the Directors The Directors

meet informally with shareholders after the annual general
meetming and respond throughout the year to correspondence
from individual shareholders on a wide range of issues Annual
general meetings provide a venue for the shareholders to meet
the Non-Executive Directors in addition to any other meetings
shareholders may request
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The Non-Executive Directors, having considered the Code

with regard to relations with shareholders, are of the view

that it is most appropnate for the shareholders to have regular
dialogue with the Executive Directors The results of all dialogue
with shareholders are reviewed by the Semior Independent
Non-Executive Director However, should shareholders have
concerns, which they feel cannot be resolved through

normal shareholder meetings, the Chairman, Senior
Independent Non-Executive Director and the remaining
Non-Executive Director may be contacted upon request through
the Company Secretary

At the annual general meeting on 7 February 2013, the Board
will be following the recommendattons in the Code regarding
the constructive use of annual general meettngs, as usual,

the agenda will include a presentation by the Chief Executive
on aspects of the Group's business and an opportunity for
shareholders to ask questions The Board has no plan to
introduce poll voting on all business at general meetings as a
substitute for using proxy votes as this 1s not a requirement of
the Code and could, in the Company's case, reduce the voting on
resolutions as 1t would require attendance at the annual general
meeting by a representative of each major shareholder

Accountability

The Code requires that Directors review the effectiveness

of the Group’s system of tnternal controls The scope of this
review covers all controls including financial, operational and
comphance controls as well as sk management As indicated
earher, the Board has put in place the procedures necessary tc
implement the Turnbull Guidance on internal control and the
Audit Commuttee has responsibility to review, monitor and make
policy and recommendations to the Board upon all such matters

The Directors acknowledge thetr responsibility for the Group’s
system of internal control The Board, through the Audit
Committee, keeps this system under continuous review and
formally considers its content and its effectiveness on an annual
basis Such a systern can provide only reasonable, and not
absolute, assurance against matenal rmisstatements or losses
The section on internal control in the Audit Committee report
above and the following paragraphs describe relevant key
procedures within the Group’s systems of internal control

and the process by which the Directors have reviewed

their effectiveness

Systems exist throughout the Group which provide for the
creation of three year plans and annual budgets, monthly
reports enabie the Board to compare performance aganst
budget and to take action where appropnate

Aaven




Procedures are in place to identify all major business risks and
to evaluate their potentizl impact on the Group These nsks are
described within the Business Review on pages 21 to 23

Risk management

Risk ts managed by the executive management team at its
quarterly meetings during the year, led by the Company
Secretary and the Chief Executive At each meeting the
executive team sets its key priorities for successfully managing
the Group’s businesses in the coming quarter This process
inherently addresses nsk and the Company Secretary sponsors
an exercise that ensures the known nisks to the businesses,
together with any newly identified risks, are assessed and
analysed effectively and that the priorities elimimate, minimise,
control or transfer nsk {or the effect thereof) as appropnate The
Company Secretary also sponsors a review of the continuing
effectiveness of other aspects of the control environment by the
executive team

The Board carrned out quarterly reviews of the key nsks facing
the Group during the year, following the quarterly reviews
conducted by the executive management team The Board also
carried out an annual review of the major business rnisks affecting
the Group In the year under review, the risk assessments

carned out both at bustness level and at Board level continue to
be reviewed and strengthened as part of the Board's ongoing
respense to the Turnbull Guidance

The risk management process

Assessment
and analysis

Risk register

Eliminauon /

minimise / control
or transfes

Identification

Review of
effactiveness
of control

There 15 a clearly defined delegation of authonty from the
Board to the business units, with appropriate reporting ines
to individual Executive Directors There are procedures for the
authonisation of capital expenditure and investment, together
with procedures for post-completion appraisal

Internal controls are in existence which provide reasonable
assurance of the maintenance of proper accounting records and

Aven

the rehiabihity of financial information used within the business
or for publication

The Group finance department manages the financial reporting
process to ensure that there 1s appropnate control and review
of the financial tnformation including the production of the
consolidated annual accounts Group finance 1s supported

by the operational finance managers throughout the Group,
who have the responsibiiity and accountability for providing
information in keeping with our policies, procedures and
internal best practices as documented in the internal

finance manual

The Board has issued a Pohcy and Code on Business Conduct
which reinforces the importance of the internal control
framework within the Group The Policy and Code includes

a whistle-blowing procedure whereby individuals may

raise concerns in matters of inancizl reporting or other
matters directly with the Audit Committee which will ensure
independent investigation and follow up action The Policy and
Code ts reviewed annually

Although the Board itself retamns the ultymate power and
authonty in relation to decision making, the Audit Committee
meets at least three times a year with management and, on
two occasions, external auditors to review specific accounting,
reporting and financial control matters This Committee also
reviews the intenim, prebminary and annual statements and has
primary responsibility for making a recommendation on the
appointment, reappointment and removal of external auditors

Disclosure and transparency rules

Disclosures 1n respect of the DTR requirements underDTR72 6
are given in the Directors’ Report on pages 26 to 29 and have
been tncluded by reference

Going concern

After making appropnate enquinies, the Directors have, at

the time of approving the financial statements, formed a
Jjudgement that there 1s a reasonable expectation that the
Company and Group have adequate resources to continue in
operational existence for the foreseeable future For this reason,
the Directors continue to adopt the going concern basis in
preparing the financial statements

Stella Pine OBE
Chairman of the Audit Committee
21 November 2012
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Remuneration Report

for the year ended 30 September 2012

Part 1 of this Report sets out the Company’s remuneration pohcies for the Directors for the year ended 30 September 2012 These policies
are hkely to continue to apply in future years, unless there are specific reasons for change, in which case shareholders will be informed
appropriately Part 2 sets out audited details of the remuneration received by Directors duning the year ended 30 September 2012

Part 1. Remuneration policies (not subject to audit}

Executive Directors

Remuneration Committee

he Remuneration Committee is responsible for developing the remuneration policy for the Executive Directors and for

determining their individual packages and terms of service In establishing this policy, and to ensure consistency with the

arrangements for other management levels, the Remuneration Committee has regard to pay and conditions throughout the
Group and is also responsible for setting the remuneration packages for the other members of the executive management team

The Committee compnises Sir Richard Needham (Chairman),
MrDR Evans and Mrs 5 J Pirie Sir Richard Needham became
Chairman of the Committee in February 2012 when he stood
down as Chairman of the Board and Mr D R Evans, the previous
Charrman cf the Committee, became Chairman of the Board
The Chief Executive, Mr PC Slabbert and the Company
Secretary, Mr M Ingrey-Counter, are invited to attend meetings
except when matters relating to their own remuneration
arrangements are discussed The Commuttee also uses external
independent professional advisers when needed KPMG 15 the
Company's independent actuanal advisor on pension matters
and will provide the Committee with information on executive
pension arrangements when required Ernst & Young provide
performance monitonng data for review by the Committee in
relatron to the Performance Share Plan In September 2011 Ernst
& Young also conducted a benchmarking review of the reward
packages received by the executive management team and the
fees received by the Chaltrman and the other Non-Executive
Directors

The Committee met 5 ttmes duning the year and addressed the
following main 1ssues

- approval of the Execetive Directors' annual
bonus payments

approval of the annual bonus plan for the
Executive Directors for the coming year

- reviewed and confirmed the vesting of the
2008/9 Performance Share Plan award
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- reviewed and approved the 2011/12 Performance
Share Plan awards and monitored the performance of the
outstanding awards against their performance targets

reviewed the executive management team’s succession
and talent management plan

reviewed the remuneration of the Executive Directors,
the Chairman and the other members of the executive
management team

Guiding policy

The Remuneration Committee’s terms of reference are
available on the Company's website and include

- determimng and agreeing with the Board the policy
for the remuneration of the Company’s Chief Executive,
Group Finance Director, Chairman, the Company
Secretary and such other members of the senior
management team as 1t chooses to consider or i1s
designated to consider,

« within the terms of the agreed policy, determining
the total individual remuneration package of each
Executive Director including, where appropnate,
bonuses, incentive payments, share options and pension
arrangements The remuneration of Non-Executive
Directors 1s a matter for the Chairman and the
Executive Directors,
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targets to be used,

.

Group employees,

+ reviewing the design of all share incentive plans
for approval by the Board and shareholders For any
discretionary plans, determining each year whether
awards will be made, the overall amount of such awards,
the individual awards to Executive Drrectors and the - executive remuneration packages should take into
account the Inkage between pay and performance by
both rewarding effective management and by making
the enhancement of shareholder value a critical success
factor in the setting of incentives, both in the short and
the long term, and

executive management team and the performance

determining the targets for any performance-related
bonus schemes operated by the Company,

reviewing the remuneration trends across the Group,
including the salary increases proposed annually for all

« agreeing termination arrangements for senior executives

Remuneration elements

The Committee’s alm 15 to ensure that the structure of executive
remuneration supports the achievement of the Company's
performance objectives and, in turn, increases shareholder
value The Company’s guiding policy on executive remuneration
15 that

- the overall level of salary, incentives, pension and other
benefits should be competitive when compared with
other companies of a similar size and global spread

Type of remuneration

Description

Purpose

W
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Base Salary

Cash salary based on mdividual
contribution which 1s reviewed annually

Reflects the competitive market salary level for the
role and takes account of persanal performance
and contribution to corporate performance

Pension

15% of base salary

Provides funds to be saved for retirement

Annual benus

100% of base salary for PC Slabbert
and 80% of base salary for AG Lewis

Patd in cash based on the Company’s
annual financial performance, and,
1o a lesser degree the executive’s
personal performance against a set
of personal performance targets

Rewards the achievement of meeting
stretching annual financial targets

Performance Share Plan

Maximum award of 100% of base salary
for PC Slabbert and 80% of base salary
for AG Lewis

Awards vest aftera 3 year
performance period

Aligns the executives’ interests with shareholder
interests through the ownership of shares
Vesting 1s dependent on enhanced relative
returns to shareholders and earnings per share
over a long term performance penod
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Remuneration Report

for the year ended 30 Septernber 2012

The following table iitustrates the proporuon of vanable pay
to base salary for the Chief Executive and the Group Finance
Director for 2012/13, assuming target {which is median
performance} or maximum performance related pay

Proportion of performance related pay to salary

Chief Executive Target -m
Chief Executive Maximum _ W

Group Finance Directar Target -m
Group Finance Director Maximum _ W

0% 0% 40% &0% BO% T00%

. Salary D Bonus Z Performance Shares

Salary

In setting salary levels, the Remuneration Committee considers
the expenence and responsibility of executives and their
personal performance during the previous year The Committee
also takes account of salary levels within other companies of a
similar size and globa! spread, as well as the rates of increases
for other employees within the Group The Remuneration
Committee reviews salanes with effect from October each year

In September 2011 Ernst & Young were instructed by the
Committee to conduct a benchmarking review of the reward
packages received by the executive management team

The report benchmarked these by reference to a comparator
group of 18 UK histed companies selected accarding to size,
industry sector or tocation as a suitable benchmark group for
the Cempany

investing In innovation
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Comparator group of companies
for reward benchmarking:

Consort Medical plc Renold plc

Cosait plc Scapa Group plc

Diploma PLC Tnifast plc

Hamwaorthy Plc Victrex plc

Hampson Industries PLC Conn Group PLC

James Latham plc Future PLC

Lonrhe ple Haynes Publishing Group PLC

Melrose Resources plc Helphire Group plc

Renishaw plc Latchways plc

According to the report the Chief Executive and Group Finance
Director roles attracted salanies below the minimum pay range
found In the comparator group Based upon the report, the
significant growth delivered in recent years and the future
prospects for growth, the Committee agreed a strategy to target
the median pay level, but not in a single large increase The first
step towards the median was taken with effect from 1 October
2011 when Mr PC Slabbert’s salary was increased from £235,0600
to £280,000 (a 19 1% increase) and Mr A G Lewis's salary was
increased from £162,000 to £200,000 {(a 23 5% Increase)

In September 2012 the Commuttee considered whether to grant
a further increase towards the median level for Mr Slabbert and
Mr Lewts but declded against this No general salary increase
was made either and the Committee will review the position
again in September 2013

aven




Annual bonus

The executives' annual bonus arrangements are focused on the achrevement of the Company’s short term financial objectives Before
the start of each year, the Remuneration Committee sets financial performance targets for the year, which are designed to be stretching
For 2012/13 80% of Mr PC Slabbert's bonus potential of 100% of salary will be based on the achitevement of Group financial targets and
the remaining 20% will be based on achieving measurable personal performance targets, as shown below 70% of Mr A G Lewis’s bonus
potential of 80% of salary will be based on the achievement of Group financial targets and the remamning 10% will be based on achieving

measurabte personal performance targets, also as shown below

PC Slabbert A G Lewis
1. Financial Targets
(@) Group profit budget achievement (Group PBITE) 30% 25%
(b) Profit growth on previous year {year on year PBITE growth) 30% 25%
() Group cash generation (ratio of operating cashflow to operating profit) 20% 20%
2. Personal Performance Target Rating
A portion of bonus can be earned based on an mdividual reviewer's
assessment of personal performance against personal performance 20% 10%
targets set at the beginning of the finanaa! year
Total potential bonus 2013 as a percentage of basic salary 100% 80%

Aven
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Remuneration Report

for the year ended 30 September 2012

The 2011 Ernst & Young benchmarking review found that

the annual bonus percentages for Mr Slabbert (80%) and Mr
Lews (70%) were below the median In September 2011 the
Committee therefore agreed that the annual bonus for the
financial year commencing 1 October 2011 would be increased
to 100% of salary for Mr Slabbert and B0% of salary for Mr Lews
and this 15 the maximum bonus potential for 2012/13 under
these arrangements Bonus payments are not pensionable

Performance Share Plan (PSP)

The Remuneratron Committee introduced this Plan with
shareholder approval at the annual general meeting in 2002 and
in 2010 shareholders approved a replacement The existing Plan
therefgre came into effect from 2 March 2010, with the aim of
motivating Executive Directors and other senior executives 1o
achieve performance supertor to the Company’s peers and to
maintain and increase earnings levels whlst at the same time
ensuring that it 1s not at the expense of longer term shareholder
returns This is reflected in the Plan's performance conditions
which are based on total shareholder return {TSR) and earnings
per share (EPS) The Committee helieves that these financial
performance condrtions remain appropriate for a growing
business and the expectations of shareholders over the next
three years Non-financial performance conditions have been
considered but are not appropnate at the current stage in the
development of the Group

The TSR measure takes the total return received by the
Company’s shareholders in terms of share price growth and
dividends over a period of time and compares 1t with the total
returns received by shareholders in companies within a
pre-determined and appropriate comparator group

The EPS measure is based on real growth in earnings over the
performance peniod where real growth 1s expressed as a %
above inflation

Under the Plan, Executive Directors and a Imited number of
other senior executives and employees recerve conditional
share awards (which may be in the form of nil-cost options}

in respect of the Company’s shares The awards are spht so
that 50% vests in accordance with the TSR target and 50% In
accordance with the EPS target The Committee considered
whether to make the targets apply concurrently but decided
against this, preferring a balance of measures relating to
earnings growth and long term strategic performance that are
assessed independently of each other The actual number of
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shares that each parucipant receves depends on the Company’s
performance over a three-year performance period against the
combined EPS/TSR target The Committee believes that a three-
year performance period remains appropnate for the Company
and 1510 ine with market practice amongst the FTSE Small Cap
community

For the TSR measure, the performance of the Company’s
shares over the performance perlod is compared to the TSR
performance within a comparator group compnising the FTSE
Small Cap index, excluding investment trusts The Committee
has considered whether to create a bespoke comparator group
but concluded that there are insufficient direct comparator
compantes of the right size and in the relevant industries to
warrant a speafic peer group and the FTSE Small Cap Index
remains an appropriate comparator group Over the three year
period

+ H the Company’s TSR performance 1s below the median
T5R of the comparater group, no shares will vest

« 1f the Company’s TSR performance is equal to the median
TSR of the comparator group, 30% of the shares may vest

+ 1f the Company’s TSR performance 1s equal to, or exceeds,
the upper quartile TSR of the comparator group, 100% of
the shares may vest

- tf the Company's TSR performance 1s between the median
and upper quartile TSR of the comparator group, shares may
vest on a pro rata basis

The above schedule reflects the Remuneration Commuttee’s
intention to reward only TSR performance which outperforms
the comparator group and the Committee’s view 1s that
measuring this by reference to median and upper quartile
placing remains approprate Last year the Committee reduced
the minimum TSR vesting target from 40% to 30% to make 1t
more challenging While the Committee has noted that market
practice 1s moving towards a 25% minimum vesting level it has
decided not to implement a further reduction this year, but this
will be kept under review

Aven




For the EPS measure, the earnings per share over the
performance period are compared to a scale which allows

for nil vesting at RPI +3% and maximum vesting at RPl +8%,
with vesting on a pro rata basis for performance between
these two figures This range was first introduced for the
awards made in December 2011 and the Committee beheves
it remains appropriate Itis difficult to hink the EPS target to
broker forecasts which only look out ene year, but f inflation is
assumed at 3%, then under the EPS measure the Group hasto
grow profits by 20% over 3 years to achieve minimum vesting
and by 35% to achieve maximum vesting These measures are
2head of expectations for businesses in the Company's sector
where longer term forecasts are published

In addition, the Committee may reduce the number of shares
which will vest or decide that no shares will vest if it considers
that the financial perfoermance of the Company or the
performance of the participant does not jusufy vesting

Ranking of the Company's TSR
in the peer group

Below median Nil
Median 30%
Upper guartile 100%
EPS growth targets

% of award vesting

RPI +3% Nil

RPI +8% 100%

aven

The maximurn value that can be granted under the Plan rules in
any year 1s 100% of salary It is the Remuneration Committee's
intention that only the Chief Executive should receive the

maximum conditional grant, with the Group Finance Director
receiving 80% of salary These levels were reviewed and
validated in Septernber 2011 by the Committee by reference to
the Ernst & Young benchmarking review

On a change of control, any vesting of awards will be pro-rated
by reference to tme and performance

Under the Plan as introduced 1n 2010 joint ownership awards
were permitted for the first ime In the Company’s case, savings
in Natronal Insurance Contnibutions resulting from this are

not offset by the {oss of corporation tax credits because of the
presence of historic tax losses i the UK

As announced to sharehelders in December 2011, Joint
ownership awards, nil cost options and conditional awards
of shares were granted under the 2010 Plan to the Executive
Directors and members of the Group Executive team

The Committee determined in December 2011 that the

2008/9 award vested in full on the basis that the TSR over the
three years from 1 October 2008 to 30 September 2011 was
significantly ahead of the upper quartile of the comparator
group As a consequence, and as announced to shareholders in
December 20M, 460,714 shares were awarded to Mr Slabbert
and 222,857 shares were awarded to Mr Lews
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Remuneration Report

for the year ended 30 Seplemiber 2012

Performance graph

The following graphs llustrate the total return, in terms of share price growth and dividends on a noticnal investment of £1001n the
Company over the last three and five years relative to the FTSE Small Cap Index (excluding tnvestment trusts) This index was chosen by
the Remuneration Committee as a cornpetitive indicator of general UK market performance for companies of a simitar size
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Shareholding guidelines

.

Under shareholding guidelines approved in 2004, executives
participating in the Performance Share Plan during the year are
required to build up and retain a shareholding in the Company
Far Executive Directors the shareholding requirement is
equivalent to 1 5 times base salary and for other executives the
shareholding requirement 1s equivalent to 1 0 imes base salary
The Executive Directors and senior executives are required to
retain a portion of any awards that vest under the Performance
Share Plan until their respective shareholding guideline is met

In September 2011 the Remuneration Committee amended the
shareholding guidelines so that for future awards the Executive
Directors are obltged to build up and retain a shareholding
equivalent to two times base salary, after which they are not
required to retain any portion of future awards that vest

Dilution

The Company reviews the awards of shares made under the
various all employee and executive share plans in terms of their
effect on dilution himits in any rolling 10-year peniod Inrespect
of the 5% and 10% hmits recommended by the Association of
Briuish Insurers, the relevant percentages were 767% and 9 78%
respectively based on the 1ssued share capital at 30 September
2012 Under the 2010 Plan the 5% hmit was increased to 10%
and, last year, the 10% limit was increased to 15% to preserve
the 10% hmit for discretionary plans in connection with the
introduction of the all employee Share Incentive Plan

As at 30 September 2012, the number of shares commtted
under discretionary share-based incentive schemes since 30
September 2002 was 3,417,597 Deducting the shares purchased
in the market to satisfy previous awards that had vested and
the shares held in the Employee Share Ownership Trusts gives
2,355,193 shares which represents 7 67% dilution against the
10% discretionary plan dilution imit As at 30 September

2012, the number of shares committed under all employee
share-based incentive schemes since 30 September 2002 was
4,068,143 Deducting the shares purchased in the market to
satisfy previous awards that had vested and the shares held in
the Employee Share Ownership Trusts gives 3,005,739 shares
which represents 9 78% diluticn agamst the 15% all employee
plan dilution imit

It remains the Company’s practice to use Employee Share
Ownership Trusts in order to meet its hability for shares awarded
under the Performance Share Plan Two trusts have been
established, the second in March 2010 in connection with the
new jointly owned equity awards In September 2012 the Avon
Rubber plc Employee Share Ownership Trust No 1 purchased

Aven

90,000 shares in the market At 30 September 2012 there were
1,400,642 shares held in the two Employee Share Cwnership
Trusts which will esther be used to satisfy awards granted under
the Plan to date, or in connection with awards to be made under
the 2010 Flan Of these, 1,144,444 were held on a Jointly owned
equity basis A Hedging Commuttee ensures that the Employee
Share Ownership Trusts hold sufficient shares to satisfy existing
and future awards made under the Plan by buying shares in the
market or causing the Company to issue new shares

Share Incentive Plan

Shareholders approved the introduction of the Aven Rubber

p ) ¢ Share Incentive Plan (the SIP) at the annual general
meeting in February 2012 Alt UK tax resident employees of

the Company and 1ts subsidianies are entitled to participate
Under the SIP paruicipants purchase shares in the Company
monthly using deductions from their pre-tax pay The maximum
contnbution each month under the SIP 1s £125, a sum which

1s set by the Government Both Mr Slabbert and Mr Lewis
partrcipate in the SIP at the maximum level

Shareholders also approved the introduction of the Avon
Rubber p | ¢ Empioyee Stock Purchase Plan (the ESPP) at the
annual general meeting in February 2012 The ESPP 15 open

to all US tax resident employees and allows participants to
accumulate deductions from their post-tax pay over an offering
period of 12 months At the conclusion of the offenng penod
the accumulated funds are used to purchase the Company’s
shares at a discount Neither Mr Slabbert or Mr Lewis are eligible
to participate in the ESPP
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Remuneration Report

for the year ended 30 September 2012

Pensions and other benefits

The current Executive Directors (Mr PC Slabbertand Mr A G
Lewis) are both based in the UK and are members of the Avon
Rubber Retirement and Death Benefits Plan Until 30 September
2009, when the final salary section of the Plan closed to future
accrual of benefits, Mr Slabbert was a member of the Seruor
Executive Section which provided members with a2 defined level
of benefit on retirement depending on length of service and
earnings Members can receive a pension of up to two-thirds

of pensionable salary on retirement from age 60, provided the
minimum service requirement of 20 years has been met On
deathn service, a lump sum of four tmes pensionable salary is
paid, along with a spouses’ penston of one half of the member's
prospective penston When an Executive Director dies after
retirement, a spouse’s pension of one half of the member's
pension is paid At the time the final salary section of the Plan
closed to future accrual of benefits, in return for Mr Slabbert
giving up this valuable benefit, the Company and the Trustee
agreed to enter into a special benefit arrangement Under this
arrangement for each complete year subsequently worked by
Mr Slabbert, the age by reference to which a reduction would be
applied to his pension If he chose to draw it early would reduce
by 5/8ths of a year, with the end result that after 8 years, no
reduction would apply if Mr Slabbert retired on or after his 55th
birthday Thus, each year over an 8 year period the age at which
Mr Slabbert can retire early, on an unreduced basis, reduces by
75 months

During the year to 30 September 2012 Mr Slabbert has been a
member of the money purchase section of the Plan {(see below)

In ine with Company policy which dates back to 2003 for new
employees in the UK, any UK-based Executive Directors joining
the Company are offered defined contribution arrangements

Mr Lews is therefore a member of the money purchase section
of the Plan Members receive a pensicn based upon the size of
their retirement account on retirement from age 65 Cn death
n service, a lump sum of four times pensionable salary 15 paid,
along with a spouses’ pension of one quarter of the member’s
pensionable salary Both Mr Slabbert and Mr Lewis receive a
company penston contribution of 15% of salary

Mr Slabbert's total pension benefits were approaching £1 5m so
in March 2012 he ceased making contributions into the money
purchase section of the Plan to enable him to apply for fixed
protection from HMRC to preserve the higher lifettme allowance
of £1 8m The Company continued to set aside pension
contnibutions on his behalf for the remainder of the financial
year On 30 September 2012 these contnibutions remained held
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by the Company on Mr Slabbert’s behalf Mr Stabbert remains
covered by the death In service msurance notwithstanding that
he 1s no longer an active member of the Plan

Executive Directors’ basic salaries are the only pensionable
element of their remuneration packages Executive Directors are
entitled to participate in employee healthcare plans

Neither of the Executive Directors is currently appointed as

a non-executive director of any imited company outside the
Group The Remuneration Committee will establish a policy
on the treatment of any fees received by Executive Directors in
respect of such non-executive roles when required

Contracts

The Company's policy 1s that Executive Directors should
normally be employed under a contract which may be
terminated by ernther the Company or the Executive Director
giving 12 months’ notice and which otherwise expires on
retrement, currently at age 60 for Mr Slabbert and age 65

for MrLewis The Company may terminate the contract early
without cause by making a payment in hieu of notice by monthly
instalments of salary and benefits to a maximum of 12 months,
with reductions for any amounts recerved from providing
services to others during this period

The Remuneration Committee may vary these terms if the
particular circumstances surrounding the appointment of a new
Executive Director demand it but this would be exceptional and
has never happened The Remuneration Commuttee strongly
endorses the obligat:on on an Executive Director to mitigate
any loss on early terminatton and will seek to reduce the
amount payable on termination where 1t 1s appropnate to do so
The Committee will also take care to ensure that, while meeting
its contractual obligations, poor performance 1s not rewarded
The Executive Directors’ contracts contain early termination
provisions consistent with the policy outiined above

The table befow summanses key details in respect of each
Executive Director's contract

Contract Years to Company  Executive

date expected notlce notice

retirement period penod

PC Slabbert 28 September 2009 10 12months 12 months
AG Lewis 28 September 2009 24 12months 12 months




Chairman and
Non-Executive Directors

The Chairman and Non-Executive Directors receive a fixed fee
for their services Fee levels are determined by the Board in
hght of market research and advice provided by Ernst & Young
Fee levels are reviewed from time to time The Charrman and
the Non-Executive Directors do not participate in any Board
discussions or vote on their own remuneration, not do they
participate mn any incentive or benefit plans

The Chairman and the Non-Executive Directors each have
aletter of appointment which specifies an imtiat penied of
appointment The initial period for Mrs Pine was three years
and this was extended for a further three years on 1 March
2008 and on a rolling annual basis on 1 March 2011 Sir Richard
Needham's inmial penod of three years expired on 26 January
2010 and was extended on a rolling annual basis As announced
to sharehaolders last year, Sir Richard Needham will cease to be
a Non-Executive Director following the annual general meeting
on 7 February 2013 The initial pertod for Mr Evans was also
three years and this was extended on a rolling annual basis on
31 May 2000

Chairman and Non-Executive Director appointments are subject
to Board approval and election by shareholders at the annual
general meeting following appontment and, thereafter, re-
election by rotation every three years The Chairman and any
Non-Executive Director who has served for more than nine
years since first election are subject to annual re-election

by shareholders There are no provisions for compensation
payments on early termination in the Chairman’s and the Non-
Executve Directors’ letters of appointment The date of each
appointment Is set out below, together with the date of their
last re-election

Date of Date of

imtial appointment re-election

The Rt Hon Sir Richard Needham 26 January 2007 2 March 2010
DR Evans 1 June 2007 3 March 201
5} Pine OBE 1 March 2005 2 February 2012

Directors' interests

Beneficial interests of Directors, their families and trusts in
ordinary shares of the Company were

Attheend  Atthe beginning

of the year of the year
The Rt Hon Sir Richard Needham 65,900 65,900
5) Pine OBE 82,000 82,000
DR Evans 40,000 40,000
PC Slabbert 140,097 22,833
AG Lews 75122 -

Interests in jointly owned shares held by the directors under
Avon's Performance Share Plan are excluded from the above
and detailed separately at page 54 of the Remuneration Report

The only change in the interests set out above between 30
September 2012 and 21 November 2012 were the additional
shares bought by Mr PC Slabbert and Mr A G Lewis under the
Share Incentive Plan, which increased therr total shareholdings
to 140,178 and 75,203 respectively

The register of Directors’ interests contains details of all
Directors’ shareholdmgs and share options
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Remuneration Report
for the year ended 30 Sepiember 2012

Part 2. Details of remuneration (auditable information)

The following formation has been audited by the Company’s auditors PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, as required by the Large and
Medium-sized Companies and Groups (Accounts and Reports) Regulatrons 2008

Directors’ emoluments

Basic salary Other Annua) Total Total
and fees benefits* bonus** 2012 2011
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Directors holding office throughout 2011 and 2012

The Rt Hon Sir Richard Needham (Chairman to 2 February 2012} 73 - 73 70
DR Evans (Chairman) a1 - 81 45
AG Lews 200 2 63 265 246
S J Pirie OBE (Non-Executive) 45 45 45
PC Slabbert (highest paid Director) 280 2 12 394 369

Total 2012 679 4 175 858
Total 2011 557 4 214 775

*Qther benefits relate to medical insurance

**The Remuneration Committee determined at its meeting on 20 November 2012 that the cntenia for making an award under the annual
bonus scheme had been met as follows

P.C. Slabbert A.G. Lewis

1. Financial Targets

{a) Group profit budget achievement {(Group PBITE) 0% 30% 0% 25%
(b} Profit growth on previous year (year on year PBITE growth) 4% 30% 3% 25%
(c) Group cash generation [ratio of operating cashflow to operating profit) 20% 20% 20% 20%
2. Personal Performance Target Rating 16% 20% 8% 10%
Total potential bonus as a percentage of bas:c salary 40% 100% 31% 80%

No Director waived emoluments in respect of the year ended 30 September 2012 (2011 nil}
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Executive Directors’ pensions

The Stock Exchange Listing Rules require the disclosure of certain addtional information relating to the pensions of Executive Directors

under defined benefit schemes The information I1s set out below

PC Slabbert

£

Addimional accrued pensicn earned in year {including inflation) 3,255
Accrued pension as at 30 September 2012 65,858
Transfer value as at 30 September 2012 1,195,358
Accrued pension as at 30 September 201 62,603
Transfer value as at 30 September 2011 944132
Increase n transfer value 251,226
Increase in transfer value less Director's contributrons 251,226

Addinonal accrued pension earned 1n year {excluding inflation of 5 0%)
Transfer value of increase in accrued pension {net of Director’s contributions)

The age at which Mr PC Slabbert may take his pension
unreduced was reduced by 5/8ths of a year over the year to 30
September 2012

On closure of the defined benefit scheme Mr Slabbert joined the
money purchase section of the plan Company contnbutions

in respect of Mr Slabbert during the year were £21,479 (2011
£35,300) Company contributions into the Plan on Mr Slabbert’s
behalf ceased in March 2012 as tus total pension benefits were
approaching the standard hfetime allowance At the year-end
accrued contributions of £21,000 were held on Mr Slabbert’s
behalf

In respect of Mr A G Lewis, company contnbutions to the money
purchase section of the plan were £30,000 (2011 £24,300)

Ali transfer values have been calculated on the basis of actuarial
advice in accordance with Actuarial Guidance Note GN1

The transfer values of the accrued entitlement represent the
value of assets that the pension scheme would need to transfer
to another pension provider on transferring the scheme’s
lability in respect of the Director’s pension benefits They do not
represent sums payable to individual Directors and, therefore,
cannot be added meaningfully to annual remuneration

The accrued entitlement shown 15 the amount that would be
paid each year at normal retirement age, based on service to
the end of the current year The accrued lump sum, under the
defined benefit scheme, for Mr Slabbert at 30 September 2012
was £308,306 (2011 £292,400)
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Remuneration Report

for the year ended 30 September 2012

Performance Share Plan 2002 and 2010 (the 2002 Scheme and the 2010 Scheme)

For grants of opttons or conditional awards made to date pursuant to the 2002 Scheme, and grants of joint ownership awards, options

or conditional awards made to date pursuant to the 2010 Scheme, the performance conditions have been based on the Company’s TSR
relative to the TSR of a comparator group, compnsing the FTSE Small Cap compantes (excluding investment trusts) For the Cycle granted
tin 2011712 a split performance condition apphed so that 50% of the award vests in accordance with the TSR target and 50% in accordance
with an EPS target based on real growth in earnings over the performance penod where real growth ts expressed as a percentage above
inflation

In September 2011 the Remuneration Committee decided that the performance condition should be changed to a twofold test based on
TSR performance and Earnings Per Share {EPS), bringing future awards 1n line with market practice and thereby encouraging management
to maintain and increase earnings levels whilst at the same time ensuning that it 15 not at the expense of longer term shareholder return
The Committee has set the EPS target as nil vesting at RPI +3% and maximum vesting at RPl +8% with vesting on a pro rata basis in
between these two figures

A hist of the number of shares under option granted at nil cost, to Executive Directors and senior employees, prior to 30 September 201215
set out below

2012 Granted Granted Granted Granted
2008/9 200010 2050/ 201/12
{for the {for the {for the Total option {for the
qualifying qualifying qualifying awards Vested qualifying Lapsed Awards
penod ending pertiod ending period ending cutstanding at dunng  period ending during outstanding at
30 Sept 2011)** 30 Sept 2012) 30 Sept 2013) 30 Sept 2011 the year 30 Sept 2014) the year 30 Sept 2012
PC Slabbert 460,714 230,126 123424 814,264 460,714) 87500 - 441,050
AG Lewrs 222,857 12,91 68,067 403,805 (222857} 50000 - 231,038
Other semior employees***™* 541776 336973 276 804 1155553 {541776) 222 861 {12,855} 823,783
1225347 680070 468,295 237312 {1225 347) 360,361 {12,855) 1,495,871
20m Granted Granted Granted Granted
2007/8 2008/9 2009/1¢ 2010/
(for the {for the (for the Total eption {for the
guahfying quaifying gualfying awards quahfying Lapsed Awards
period ending peniod ending penod ending outstanding at  periodending dunng outstanding at
30 Seprt 2010)* 30 Sept 2011)*" 30 Sept 2013 30 Sept 2010 30 Sept 2013) the year 30 Sept 2011
PC Slabbert 460714 230126 690 840 123424 814,264
AG Lews - 222 857 112971 335828 68 067 403 895
Former Directors®** 26,302 - 76,302 (26 302) -
Cther senior employees**** 27223 541776 336973 905972 276,804 27223) 1,155,553
53525 1225347 680070 1,558,942 468 295 (53 525) 2373712

The weighted average remalning life of the awards outstanding at the year-end is 1 0 year {2011 © 8 years)
. As explained in fast year's report the awards granted under the 2007/8 cycle did not vest

i These awards were reduced to 69% of entitlement to remain within the 5% dilution imit previously contained in the Plan rules The award vested in full on the
basis that the TSR over the three years from 1 October 2008 to 30 September 2011 was significantly ahead of the upper quartile of the comparater group

**  Thisincludes awards granted to MrTK P Stead (stood down 21 April 2008 resigned as a Director on 8 September 2008 and retired on 15 May 2009)
All these awards were pro-rated and did not vest as descnbed above

+2#+  This figure includes 284,550 (2011 334,440} in respect of key management as defined in note 8 of the financial statements
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In relation to the awards outstanding at 30 September 2012, deferred loan payments will become due to the Company for the awards
granted in 2009/10, 2010/11 and 2011/12 as follows PC Slabbert £37,917 (2011 £31,868), A G Lewis £20,090 (2011 £16,641), other senior UK
employees £41,410 (2011 £33,977)

The market price at the award date for the 2011/12 award was 300 0 pence, for the 2010/11 award it was 196 0 pence, for the 2009/10
award it was 81 5 pence, for the 2008/9 award 1t was 32 2 pence and for the 2007/8 award 1t was 165 0 pence

The market price at the vesting date for the 2008/9 award was 310 0 pence

Share Incentive Plan

As at 30 September 2012 Mr PC Slabbert and Mr A G Lews had each purchased 122 shares pursuant to the Share Incentive Plan
Sharesave option schemes

As at 30 September 2012 none of the Directors had outstanding options relating to sharesave option schemes (2011 mil) As at 30
September 2011 no other employees held options relating to sharesave option schemes and the remaining sharesave option scheme (the
Avon Rubber plc Sharesave Option Scheme 2002) terminated on its 10 year anniversary on 4 February 2012

As at 30 September 2012, the market price of Avon Rubber pl ¢ shares was £3 12 (2011 £2 85) During the year the highest and lowest
market prices were £3 25 and £2 64 respectively

The Remuneration Report has been approved by the Board of Directors and signed on 1ts behalf by

Str Richard Needham
Chairrman aof the Remuneration Committee
21 November 2012
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

for the year ended 30 September 2012

2012 2011
Note £'000 £000
Revenue 1 106,636 107,600
Cost of sales (75,803) (77.892)
Gross profit 30,833 29,708
Distnibution costs (5,013) {4,832)
Administrauve expenses {14,199) (13,740)
Operating profit 1 11,621 11,136
Operating profit 1s analysed as:
Before depreciation and amortisation 16,358 15723
Depreciation and amortisation 1011 (4,737} {4,587)
Operating profit 1,61 11136
Finance income 3 7 5
Finance costs 3 (249) (486)
Other finance expense 3 (374) {443)
Profit before taxation 4 11,005 10,212
Taxation 5 {3,176) (3,094)
Profit for the year 7,829 FARE:
Other comprehensive {(expense)fincome
Actuarial (loss)/gain recognised in retirement benefit scheme g {3,098) 5738
Net exchange differences offset in reserves 917) 358
Other comprehensive {expense)/income for the year, net of taxation (4,015) 6,096
Total comprehensive income for the year 3,814 13,214
Earnings per share 7
Basic 26 9p 252p
Diluted 254p 233p
Investing In nnovation
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Consolidated Balance Sheet

at 30 September 2012

2012 201
Note £'000 £000
Assets
Non-current assets
Intangible assets 10 13,281 10,469
Property, plant and equipment H 17,878 16,718
Retirement beneft assets 9 - 280
31,159 27467
Current assets
Inventones 12 15,449 10,679
Trade and other recervables 13 14,616 18,461
Dernvative financial instruments 8 iri -
Cash and cash equivalents 14 176 559
30,362 25,699
Liabilities
Current liabilities
Borrowings 16 - 392
Trade and other payables 15 15,748 15,220
Dernvative financral instruments 18 - 166
Provisions for habilities and charges 17 616 567
Current tax liabilities 5,160 2,040
21,524 18,385
Net current assets 8,838 11,314
Non-current liabilities
Borrowings 16 8,901 11,983
Deferred tax habilities 5 2,584 2,985
Retirement benefit obhgations 9 2,238 -
Provisions for labiliues and charges 17 2,377 2,641
16,100 17,609
Net assets 23,897 21172
Shareholders’ equity
Ordinary shares 19 30,723 30,723
Share premium account 19 34,708 34,708
Capital redemption reserve 500 500
Translation reserve {552) 365
Accumulated losses (41,482) {45,124)
Total equity 23,897 21,172
These financral statements were approved by the Board on 21 November 2012 and were signed on 115 behalf by
Peter Slabbert Andrew Lewis
investing i iInnovation
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement

for the year ended 30 September 2012

2012 2011
Note £000 £000

Cash flows from operating activities
Cash generated from continuing operations 20 14,726 1,974
Cash used in discontinued operaticns 20 - {1,557)
Cash generated from operations 20 14,726 10,417
Finance income recetved 7 5
Finance costs paid (300} {476}
Retrement benefit deficit recovery contnbutions (625) (869)
Tax paid {262) {1,542)
Net cash generated from operating activities 13,546 7535

Cash flows from investing activities
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 4 17
Purchase of property, plant and equipment (4,815) (2,406)
Capitalised development costs (4,697) (3.266)
Net cash used in investing activities {9,508) (5,655)

Cash flows from financing activities
Net movernents in loans 21 (2,808) (1,334)
Dvidends paid to shareholders 6 (941) (706)
Purchase of own shares 19 (279} (250)
Net cash used in financing activities {4,028} {2,290
Net increase/(decrease) in cash, cash equivalents and bank overdrafts 10 (410)
Cash, cash equivalents and bank overdrafts at beginning of the year 167 577
Effects of exchange rate changes m -
Cash, cash equivalents and bank overdrafts at end of the year 21 176 167

Investing in innovation
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

for the year ended 30 September 2012

Share Share Cther Accumulated Totel
capltal premium reserves losses equity
Note £000 £000 £000 £000 £000
At 1 October 2010 30723 34,708 507 (57167 8,777
Profit for the year - - - 718 ng
Unrealised exchange differences on
averseas investments - - 358 - 358
Actuanal gain recognised in retirement
benefit scheme 9 - - - 5738 5738
Total comprehensive income for the year - - 358 12,856 13,234
Dividends paid 6 - - - (706) (7086)
Purchase of shares by the empltoyee benefit trust 16 - - - (250) (250)
Movernent in respect of employee share schemes 23 - - - 137 137
At 30 September 2011 30,723 34,708 865 (45,124) 21,172
Profit for the year - - - 7,829 7,829
Unrealised exchange differences on
overseas Investments - - (917) - (917)
Actuarial loss recognised in retirement
benefit scheme 9 - - - (3,098)  (3,098)
Total comprehensive tncome for the year - - (917) 4,731 3,814
Drvidends paid 6 - - - {941) (941}
Purchase of shares by the employee benefit trust 19 - - - (279} {279)
Movement in respect of employee share schemes 23 - - - 131 3
At 30 September 2012 30,723 34,708 (52) (41,482) 23,897

Other reserves consist of the capital redemption reserve of £500,000 (2071 £500,000) and the translation reserve of (£552,000) (2011 £365,000)

All movements in other reserves relate to the translation reserve

aven
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Accounting Policies and Critical Accounting Judgements

for the year ended 30 September 2012
¥ f

Accounting policies

The prncipal accounung policies adopted in the preparation of
these financial statements are set out below These policies have
been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise
stated

Basis of preparation

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with
EU Endorsed International financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) and
International Financial Reperting Commuttee (IFRIC) mterpretations
and the Companies Act 2006 applicable to companies reporung
under IFRS The financial statements have been prepared under the
historical cost convention except for financial assets and financial
habilities (including denvative instruments) held at fair value through
profit or loss

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRSs
reguires the use of certain critical accounting estimates [t also
requires management to exercise its judgement in the process of
applying the Group's accounting policies The areas involving a
higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where
assumptions and estimates are significant to the finrancial staterments,
are disclosed below

Recent accounting developments

The following standards, amendments and interpretations have been
issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (JASB) or by
the IFRIC The Group’s approach to these is as follows

{a) Standards, amendments ang interpretations effective in 2012

The following standards, amendments and interpretations have been
adopted for the year ended 30 September 2012

- 1AS 24 (revised), ‘Related party disclosures’

- Amendment to IFRIC 14, The imit on a defined benefit asset,
mimmum funding requirements and their interaction’

- Annual improvements 2010

The adoption of these amendments has not had a matenal impact on
the financial statements

The following standards, amendments and interpretations to existng
standards are mandatory for accounting periods beginning on or after
1 October 2011 but are not relevant to the Group’s operations, or have
no s:gnificant iImpact

- Amendment to IFRS 1, *First time adoption’ on fixed dates
and hypennflation

- Amendment to IFRS 7, ‘Financial Instruments
Disclosures — Transfers of Financial Assets’

investing In innovation
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(b) Standards, amendments and interpretations to existing
standards that are not yet effective and have not been adopted
early by the Group

The following new standards, amendments t¢ standards and
interpretations have been issued, but are not effective for the
financial year beginning 1 October 2011, have not been adopted
early and are not expected (o have a significant impact on the
Group

- IFRS 9, *Financial Instrumenits’

- IFRS 10, ‘Consolidated finangial statements’

- IFRS 11, Joint arrangements’

- IFRS 12, 'Disclosure of snterests m other entities’

- IFRS 13, *Fair value measurement’

- 1AS 27 {revised), 'Separate financial statements’

- |AS 28 {revised), Associates and joint ventures’

- Amendment to 1AS 12, 'Income taxes’

- Amendment to IAS 1, ‘Presentation of Financial Statements'

- Amendment to IAS 19, ‘Employee benefits'

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorparate the financial
results and position of the Group and its subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are all entities over which the Group has the power to
govern the financial and operating policies generally accempanying
a shareholding of more than one half of the voting rights

Subsidanes are fully consolidated from the date on which control
15 transferred to the Group They are de-consolidated from the date
that control ceases

The purchase method of accounting 15 used to account for the
acquisition of subsidiaries by the Group The cost of an acquisttion

1s measured as the fair value of the assets given, equity nstruments
issued and habilities incurred or assumed at the date of exchange
Aquisition costs are expensed as incurred Identifiable assets
acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a
business combination are measured imitially at their fair values at the
acquisiticn date, wrespective of the extent of any non-controlling
interest intra-group iransactions, balances and unrealised gains on
transactions between Group companies are eliminated, unrealised
losses are also eliminated unless costs cannct be recovered Where
necessary, accounting pohicies of subskdiaries have been changed to
ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the Group

auen




Foreign currencies

The Group's presentational currency s sterling  The results and
financial position of all subsidiaries and associates that have a
functional currency different from sterling are translated into sterfing
as follows

- assets and liabilives are translated at the closing rate at the
balarce sheet date,

- income and expenses are translated at average rates,

and all resulting exchange differences are recognised as a separate
component of equity

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the translation
of the net investment in foreign entities, and of borrowings and other
currency instruments designated as hedges of such investments are
taken to shareholders' equity When a foreign operation is sold, the
cumulative amount of such exchange difference is recognised In the
consohdated statement of comprehensive income as part of the gain
or loss an sale

Foreign currency transactions are initially recorded at the exchange
rate ruling at the date of the transaction Foreign exchange gains
and losses resulting from setilement of such transactions and from
the transaction at exchange rates ruling at the balance sheet date of
monetary assets or habilities deneminated in foreign currencees are
recognised in the consohdated statement of comprehensive iIncome,
except when deferred in equity as qualifying hedges

Revenue

Revenue compnises the far value of the consideration received for the
sale of goods and services, net of trade discounts and sales related
taxes Revenue s recognised when the nsks and rewards of the
underlying sale have been transferred to the customer, and when
collectability of the related receivables is reasonably assured, which

15 usually when title passes or a separately idenufiable phase of a
contract or develepment has been completed and accepted by the
customer

Segment reporting

Segments are identified based on management information provided
te the chief operating decision-maker The chief operating decision-
maker, wha 15 responsible for allocating resources and assessing
performance of the operating segments, has been identified as

the Group Executive team A business segment is a group of assets
and operations engaged 1n providing products or services that are
subject to nsks and retuens that are different from those of other
business segments A geographical segment 1s engaged in prowviding
products or services within a particufar economic environment

that are subject to nsks and returns that are different from those of
segments operating in other econemic environments The chief
operating decision-maker assesses the performance of the operatng
segments based on the measures of revenue, EBIT and EBITDA
Central overheads, finance income and expense and taxation are not
allocated to the business segments

aven

Employee benefits

Pension obligations and post-retirement benefits
The Group has both defined benefit and defined contnbutton plans

The defined benefit plan’s asset or hability as recognised in the
balance sheet is the present value of the defined benefit obligation
at the balance sheet date less the fair value of plan assets

The defined benefit obligation is calculated annually by
independent actuares using the projected unit credit methed

The present value of the defined benefit obligation 15 determined
by discouniing the estimated cash cutflows using interest rates of
high-quality corparate bonds that are denominated in the currency
n which the benefits will be paid, and that have terms to maturnty
approximating to the terms of the related pension hability  Actuanal
gans and losses arising from expenence adjustments and changes
in actuareal assurnptions ase recognised in full in the penod in which
they occur, as part of other comprehensive Income  Past service
costs are recognised immediately in income, unless the changes

10 the pension plan are conditonal on the employees remaining

in service for a specified penod of ime {the vestung penod) in this
case, the past service costs are amortised on a straight-line basis
over the vesting period  The scherme 1s now closed to new entrants
and was closed to future accrual of benefit from 1 October 2009

For the defined contnbution plans, the Group pays contnbutions
to publicly or privately administered pension insurance plans on
a mandatory, contractual or voluntary basis Contributions are
expensed as incurred

Share based compensation

The Group operates a number of equity-settled, share-based
compensation plans, under which the entity receives service from
employees as censideration for equity instruments (options) of the
Group The fair value of the employee service received in exchange
for the grant of the options 1s recognised as an expense The total
amount to be expensed 15 determined by reference to the farr value
of the options granted

- including any market performance conditions,

- excluding the impact of any service and non-market
performance vestng cendiions (for example, profitabihity,
sales growth tasgets and remaining an employee of the entity
over a specified bme penod), and

- ncluding the impact of any non-vesting conditions {for
example, the requirement for employees to save)

Non-market vesting conditions are included in assumptions about
the number of options that are expected to vest The toial expense
I1s recogrised over the vesting period, which 1s the penod over
which all of the specified vesting conditions are to be satisfied

At the end of each reporting period, the entity revises i1s estimates
of the number of options thai are expected to vest based on the
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Accounting Policies and Critical Accounting Judgements continued

for the year ended 30 September 2012

non-marketing vesting condittons [t recognises the impact of the
revision 10 onginal estmates, if any, in the consohidated statement of
comprehensive income, with a corresponding adjustment 10 equity

The proceeds recetved net of any directly attributable transaction
costs are credited to share capital (nominal value) and share prermium
when the options are exercised

Intangible assets
Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of an acquisition over the
fair value of the Group's share of the identifiable net assets of the
acquired subsidiary at the date of acquisition Identifiable net assets
include intangible assets other than goodwill Any such intangible
assets are amortrsed over thew expected future hives unless they

are regarded as having an indefinite iife, in which case they are not
amortised, but subjected to annual impairment testing in a similar
manner to goodwill

Since the transiion to IFRS, goodwill ansing from acquisitions of
subsidianes after 3 October 1998 is included in ntangible assets, 1s not
amortsed but s tested annually for impairment and carried at cost
less accumulated impairment losses  Gains and fosses on the disposal
of an entity include the carrying amount of goodwill relauing 1o the
entity sold

Goodwill ansing from acquisitions of subsidianes before 3 October
1998, which was set against reserves in the year of acquisition under
UK GAAP, has not been reinstated and 1s not inctuded in determining
any subsequent profit or loss on disposal of the related entity

Goodwill is tested for impairment at least annually or whenever

there 1s an indication that the asset may be impaired Goodwill 1s
allocated 1o cash-generating unts for the purpose of iImpairment
testing The allocation 1s made to those cash-generating units

or groups of cash-generating unks that are expected to benefit

from the business combrnation in which the goodwill arose  Any
impatrment 1s recognised immedately in the consolidated statement
of comprehensive Income  Subsequent reversals of iImpairment losses
for goodwill are not recognised

Development Expenditure

Expenditure in respect of the development of new products where
the outcome is assessed as being reascnably certain as regards
viability and technical feasibiity, «s capitalised and amorused over
the expected useful Iife of the development The capitalised

costs are amortised over the estimated penod of sale for each
product, commencing In the year sales of the product are first
made Development costs capitahised are tested for imparment

at least annually or whenever there is an indicatton that the asset
may be impawred Any impairment is recognised immedately in the
consohdated statement of comprehensive income

Subsequent reversals of impairment losses for research and
development are not recognised

investig 1N innovation
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Computer Software

Computer software costs are included in intangible assets and
amortised over therr estimated lves

Property plant and equipment

Property, plant and eguipment is stated at histernical cost or deemed
cost where IFRS 1 exemptions have been applied, less accumulated
depreciation and any recognised imparment losses

Costs indude the onginal purchase price of the asset and the costs
artnbutable to bringing the asset to its working condition for its
intended use including any qualifying finance expenses |

Land1s not depreciated  Depreciation s provided on other assets |
esumated to write off the depreciable amount of relevant assets by
equal annyal instalments over ther esumated useful lves

In general, the rates used are
Freehold ~ 2% ‘
Short leasehoid property — over the penod of the lease
Plant and machinery - 6% to 50%

The residual values and useful ves of the assets are reviewed, and
adjusted! if appropriate, at each balance sheet date

An asset’s carrying amount 1s written down immediately to its
recoverable amount if its carrying amount 15 greater than its estimated
net realsable value Gams and losses an disposal are determined by
comparing proceeds with carrying amounts These are included in
the consalidated statement of comprehiensve income

Leases

Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and rewards of
ownership are retained by the lessor are classified as operating
leases Payments made under operating leases are charged to the
consohdated statement of comprehensive income on a straght-line
basis over the pencd of the lease

The sale and lease back of praperty, where the sale price 15 at farr
value and substantially all the nsks and rewards of ownership are
transferred to the purchaser, 1 treated as an operating lease The
profitor loss on the transaction is recognised immediately and lease
payments charged to the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income on a straight-line basis over the lease term

Inventories

Inventones are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value

Cost 15 determined using the first-in, firsi-out (FIFO) method The cost
of finished geods and work in progress comprses raw matenals, direct
labour, other direct costs and related production overheads (based

on narmal operating capacity) 1t excludes borrowing costs Net
realisable value 15 the esumated selling pnice in the ordinary course of
business, less applicable incremental selling expenses

aven




Trade and other receivables

Trade and other receivables are inially recognised at fair value and
subsequently held at amortised cost after deducting provisions for
impairment of receivables

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash at bank and in hand, tighly
hiquid interest-beanng secunties with matunties of three months

or less, and bank overdrafts Bank overdrafts are shown within
borrowings in current habilities an the balance sheet

Trade payables

Trade payables are cbligations to pay for goods or services that have
been acquired in the ordinary course of business from supplhers
Accounts payable are classdfied as current habilines if payment 15

due within one year or less (or in the normal operating cycle of

the business if longer) if not, they are presented as non-current
labilittes They are initially recogrised at far value and subsequently
held at amortised cost

Provisions
Prowisions are recognised when

- the Company has a legal or constructive obligation as a result of
a past event,

- tis probable that an outflow of rescurces will be required
to settle the obligation and the amount has been
reliably estimated

Where there are a number of similar obligations, for example where
awarranty has been given, the hkelihood that an outflow will be
required In settlement is determined by considering the class

of obligations as a whaole A provision is recognised even if the
likelihood of an cutflow with respect to any one stem included in
the same class of obligation may be small

Where a leasehold property, or part thereof, 1s vacant, or sub-let
under terms such that the rental iIncome 15 insufficient to meet all
outgoings, provision 1s made for the anticipated future shortfall up
to termunation of the lease, or the terrmination payment, if smailer

Taxation

Income tax on the profit or loss for the year comprises current and
deferred tax

Current tax 15 the expected tax payable on the taxable income for
the year, using tax rates substantively enacted at the balance sheet
date, and any adjustmenits to tax payable in respect of prior years

Deferred income tax 1s provided in full, using the hability method, on
temporary differences ansing between the tax bases of assets and
liabilities and thew carrying ameounts in the consolidated financial
statements However, the deferred income tax 1s not accounted

for, if iz anses from initial recognition of an asset or hability in a

AUvenh

transaction other than a business combination that at the ume of
the transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss
Deferred imcome tax 1s determined using tax rates (and laws) that
have been enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet
date and are expected to apply when the related deferred income
tax asset s realised or the deferred income tax hability is settled

Deferred incame tax assets are recognised to the extent that s
probable that future taxable profit will be available against which
the temporary differences can be utidised

Deferred income tax 15 provided on temporary differences ansing
on nvestments in subsicdianes and associates, except where the
uming of the reversal of the temparary difference 1s controlled by
the Group and 1t 1s probable that the temporary difference will aot
reverse In the foreseeabie future

Income tax s charged or credited in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive Income, except where It relates to tems recognised
In equity, in which case 1t 1s dealt with in equity

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when there

is a legally enforceable nght to offset current tax assets against
current tax habilities and whenr the deferred iIncome taxes assets
and labilities relate to income taxes lewied by the same taxation
authority on either the same taxable entity or different taxable
entsiies where there 1s an intention to settle the balances on a net
basis

Dividends

Fmal dividends are recognised as a liability in the Group's financial
staternents in the pericd in which 1he dividends are approved by
shareholders, while intenim dividends are recognised in the penod mn
which the dividends are paid

Share capital
Ordinary shares are classified as equity

Incremental costs directly attnbutable to the 1ssue of new shares
or options are shown 1n equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the
proceeds

Where any Group company purchases the Company equity share
capital (treasury shares), the consideration paid, including any
directly attributable incremenrttal costs (net of iIncome taxes), i1s
deducted from equity atinbutable to the Company’s equity holders
until the shares are cancelled, reissued or disposed of Where such
shares are subsequently sold or reissued, any consideration received,
net of any directly attnbutable incremental transaction costs ang
the related income tax effects, i1s included n equity attributable to
the Company's equity holders

Borrowings

Borrowings are recogrused inuially at fair value, net of transaction
costs incurred and subsequently stated at amortsed cost
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Accounting Policies and Critical Accounting Judgements coniinued

for the year ended 30 Sepiember 2612

Critical accounting judgements

The Group's principal accounting pohces are set out above
Management is requered to exercise significant judgement and make
use of estimates and assumptions in the application of these policies

Areas which management believes require the most cntical
accounting Judgements are

Retirement benefit obligations

The Group operates a defined benefit scheme Actuanal valuations of
the scheme are carried out as determined by the trustees at intervals
of not more than three years

The penston cost under IAS 19115 assessed in accordance with the
advice of an independent qualified actuary based on the latest
actuanal valuation and assumptions determined by the actuary
The assumptions are based on information supplied to the actuary
by the Group supplemented by discussions between the actuary
and management The assumptions are disclosed in note 9 of the
financial statements

Inventory provisions

At each balance sheet date, each subsidiary evaluates the
recoverability of tnventories and records a provision against these
based on an assessment of net realisable values The actual net
realisable vatue of inventery may differ from the estimated realisable
values, which could impact on operating results positively or
negatively

Impairment of intangible assets

The Group records all assets and liabilities acquired in business
acquisitions, including goodwill, at farr value Intangible assets
which have an indefinite useful ife, pnncipally goodwill, are assessed
annually for impairment

The Group 15 engaged in the development of new products and
processes, the costs of which are capitalised as intangible assets or
property, plant and equipment if, in the opinion of management,
there I1s a reasonable expectation of economic benefits being
achieved The factors considered i1 making these judgements
include the hkelihood of future arders and the anticipated volumes
margins and duration associated with these

Imparrment charges are made If there 1s significant doubt as to the
sufficiency of future economic benefits to justify the carrying values
of the assets based upon discounted cash flow projections using an
appropriate risk weighted discount factor Rates used were between
10% and 15%

64

Provisions

Provisions are made in respect of claims, and onerous contractual
obligations and warranttes based on the judgement of management
taking 1nto account the nature of the claim/contractual obhgation,
the range of posstble outcomes and the defences open to the
Group

Taxation

Management pernodically evaluates positions taken in tax returns
where the applicable tax regulation 15 subject to interpretation

The Group establishes provisions on the basis of amounts expected
1o be pad to tax authonties only where it is considered more likely
than not that an amount will be paid or received The Group applies
this test to each individual uncertain posiion The Group measures
the uncertain positicns based on the single most ikely outcome

When determining whether to recognise deferred tax assets
management considers the hkely availability of future taxable profits
in the relevant junisdiction




Notes to the Group Financial Statements

for the year ended 30 Septembzer 2012

| SEGMENT INFORMATION

Operaung segments are reported in 8 manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating decision-maker The
chief operaung decsion-maker, who 1s respensible for allocating resources and assessing performance of the operating segments, has been
identified as the Group Executive team

The Group has two clearly defined business segrments, Protection & Defence and Dairy, and operates out of the UK and the USA

Business segments
year ended 30 September 2012

Protection &
Defence Dairy Unallocated Group
1000 £'000 £000 £000
Revenue 74,586 32,050 106,636
Segment result before depreciation and amorusation 11,613 6,506 (1,761) 16,358
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment {2,594) {468) (102} (3.164)
Amortisatian of intangibles (1,516) (55) (2} {1,573)
Segment result 7,503 5,983 {1.865) 11,621
Finance income 7 7
Finance costs {249) (249)
Other finance expense {374) (374)
Profit before taxation 7,503 5,983 {2,481) 11,005
Taxatior: (3,176) (3,176)
Profit for the year 7,503 5,983 (5,657} 7,829
Segment assets 49,1N 9,760 2,570 61,521
Segment liabilities 9,781 2,681 25,162 37,624
Other segment items
Capital expenditure
- intangible assets 3,877 225 595 4,697
- property, plant and equipment 3,519 1,198 72 4,789

The Protection & Defence segment includes £45 9m (2011 £46 tm) of revenues from the US DoD, the only customer which indmadually
contributes more than 10% to Group revenues
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Notes to the Group Financial Statements continved

for the year ended 30 Seplember 2012

| SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

year ended 30 September 2011

Protection &

Defence Dairy Unallocated Group
£000 £000 £000 {000
Revenue 77438 30,162 107600
Segment result before depreciation and amortisation 11,630 5911 (1,.818) 15,723
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment (2,396) (387) (33) (2,816)
Amortisation of intangibles (1,741) {28) {2) (1,771)
Segment result 7493 5,496 (1,853} 11,136
Finance income 5 5
Finance costs (486) (486)
Other finance expense {443) (443)
Profit before taxation 7,493 5,496 (2,777) 10,212
Taxation {3,094) (3.094)
Profit for the year 7493 5,496 (5,871} 7118
Segment assets 47191 7456 2519 57,166
Segment liabilities 7324 3,346 25.324 35994
Other segment items
Capital expenditure
- intangible assets 3,310 4 - 3351
- property, plant and equipment 1,602 828 26 2456
Geographical segments by origin
year ended 30 September 2012
UK USA Group
£000 £'000 £000
Revenue 16,318 90,318 106,636
Non-current assets 3,710 27,449 31,159
year ended 30 September 2011
UK USA Group
£000 £000 £000
Revenue 14,847 92,753 107,600
Non-current assets 2,611 24,856 27467
investing in iInnovation
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2 EXPENSES BY NATURE

2012 261

£'000 £000
Changes in inventornies of finished goods and work in progress (740} 600
Raw matenals and consumables used 45,389 48,839
Employee benefit expense (note 8} 30,71 29,627
Deprecation and amortisation charges (notes 10 and 11) 4,737 4,587
Transportation expenses 1,650 1,578
Operating lease payments 1,641 1,654
Travelhing costs 2,072 1,860
Legal and professional fees 1,557 1015
Other expenses 7,998 6,704
Total cost of sales, distribution costs and administrative expenses 95,015 96,464

aven
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Notes to the Group Financial Statements continued

{or the year ended 30 Sepilember 2012

3 FINANCE INCOME AND COSTS

2012 201

£000 £000

Interest payable on bank loans and overdrafts {249) (486)
Finance income 7 5
(242) (481)

2012 20M

£000 £000

Interest cost UK defined benefit pension scheme (note 9) (13,602) (13,277}
Expected return on plan assets UK defined benefit pension scheme (note 9) 13,557 13226
Pravisions Unwinding of discount (note 17} {329) (392}
(374) (443)

Investing In innovation
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4 PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION

2012 20m
£000 £000
Profit before taxation 1s shown after crediting.
Rent recewvable 101 109
Gamn on foreign exchange - 90
Profit on disposal of property, plant and equipment - 1
Writeback of impawrment of Inventories - 83
Wrteback of impairment of trade receivables - 15
and after charging.
Loss on foreign exchange 191 -
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 57 -
Employee benefits 30,580 29,490
Charge relating to employee share schernes 131 137
Depreciation on property, plant and equipment (owned assets) 3,164 2,816
Repairs and maintenance of property, plant and equipment 674 730
Amortsation of intangibles 1,573 1,771
Research and development 2,29 1,723
Imparrment of inventortes 291 -
Impairment of irade receivables 13 -
Operating leases
- plant and machinery 150 124
— property 1,49 1,530
Services provided to the Group (including its overseas subsidiaries) by the Group's audttors
Audit fees in respect of the audn of the accounts of the parent company and censclidation 30 30
Audit fees in respect of the audit of the accounts of subsidianies of the company 82 83
12 113
Other services relating 1o taxation m 234
Compensation recetved regarding taxation services - 313)
Other business advisory services 28 74
251 108

Total fees

Dunng 2011 £313,000 was recetved from the Group's auditors in refation to a clarm for compensation regarding taxation services provided in the

US for previous years
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Notes to the Group Financial Statements continued

for the year ended 30 Sepiember 2012

5 TAXATION

2012 2011

£000 £000
Qverseas current tax 3,366 2,268
Overseas adjustment in respect of previous penods 172 365
Total current tax 3,538 2,633
Deferred tax — current year (190) 267
Deferred tax — adjustment in respect of previous periods 172) 194
Total deferred tax {362) 461
Total tax charge 3,176 3,094

The tax on the Group’s profit before 1axation differs from the theoretical ameunt that would anse using the standarg UK tax rate applicable 1o

profits of the consolidated entities as follows

2012 2

£000 £000

Profit before taxation 1,005 10,212

Profit before taxation at the average standard rate of 25% (2011 27%) 2,751 2757

Permanent differences {1,101) (573

Losses for which ne deferred taxation asset was recogrused 1M {654)

Adjustrnents to taxation charge in respect of previous penods - 559

Differences in overseas tax rates 415 415

Tax charge 3,176 3,094
The income tax charged directly to equity duning the year was £nil 2011 £nil)
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5 TAXATION (CONTINUED)

Deferred tax liabilities Accelerated Other
captal temporary
allowances differences Total
£000 £000 £'000
At 1 October 2010 871 1,646 2,517
Charged aganst/(credited to) profit for the year 1,953 {1,492) 451
Exchange differences 7 - 7
At 30 September 2011 2,831 154 2985
{Credited to)/charged against profit for the year 746 (1,108) (362)
Exchange differences (39) - (39)
At 30 September 2012 3,538 (954) 2,584

Deferred tax assets have been recognised in respect of temporary differences giving nse to deferred tax assets where 1t s probable that these
assets will be recovered

A number of changes to the UK corporation tax system were announced in the March 2012 Budget Statement The Finance 8ill 2012, which was
substanuvely enacted on 3 July 2012, includes legistation reducing the main rate of corporation tax to 23% from 1 Apnl 2013

The change m rate had no matenal impact on the Group's deferred tax assets and habilities

A further reduction 1o the main rate 1s proposed to reduce the rate to 22% by 1 Apnl 2014 The change had not been substantively enacted at
the balance sheet date and therefore any impacts ansing are not included in these financial statements The overall effect of the change from
25% to 22% 15 not expected 1o have any matenal impact on the Group's deferred tax assets and habsliiies as the Group's deferred tax hiabilities
are held in the USA

The Group has not recognised deferrad tax assets in respect of the following matters in the UK, as it 1s uncertain when the ¢nitena for
recognition of these assets wilt be met

2012 2011

£000 £000

Losses (3,837} (4,990)
Accelerated capital allowances (1,676} (1,727)
Retirement benefit obligations {515) -
Other (1,230} {1,966}
{7.258) (8,683)

Investlng tn innovation
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Notes to the Group Financial Statements coniinued
for the year ended 30 Sepiember 2012

6 DIVIDENDS

On 2 February 2012, the shareholders approved a final dmidend of 20p per qualifying ardinary share in respect of the year ended 30 September
2011 Thss was paid on @ March 2012 absorbing £588,000 of shareholders’ funds

On 26 April 2012, the Board of Directors approved an intenm dividend of 1 2p per qualifying ordinary share in respect of the year ended 30
Septermber 2012 This was paid on 7 September 2012 absorbing £353,000 of shareholders funds

After the balance sheet date the Board of Directors proposed a final dvidend of 2 4p per qualifying crdinary share in respect of the year ended
30 September 2012, which will absorb an estimated £704,000 of shareholders' funds Subject to shareholder approval, the dividend will be pad
on 15 March 2013 to shareholders on the register at the close of business on 15 February 2013 In accordance with accounting standards this
dividend has not been provided for and there are no corporatian tax consequences

7 EARNINGS PER SHARE

Basic earnings per share 1s calculated by dividing the earnings attnibutable to erdinary shareholders by the weighied average number of
ardinary shares in 1ssue during the year, excluding those held in the employee share ownership trust The company has dilutive potential
ordinary shares in respect of the Performance Share Plan {see page 54) Adjusted earnings per share removes the effect of the amortisation of
ntangible assets

Recencihations of the earnings and weighted average number of shares used in the calculations are set out below

2012 0N

Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue used in basic calculations (thousands) 29,151 28,270

Potentially dilutive shares (weighted average} {thousands) 1,706 2320

Fully dituted number of ardinary shares (weighted average) (thousands) 30,857 30,590

2012 2012 2012 20n 2041 2001

Baslc Diluted Basic Drluted

eps eps eps eps

000 pence pence £ 000 pence pence

Profit attnbutable to equity sharehoiders of the Company 7829 269 254 18 252 2313
Amortsation of intangibte assets 1,573 1,771

Profit excluding amortisation of intangible assets 9,402 323 30.5 8,889 314 291
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8 EMPLOYEES )

The 1otal remuneratton and associated costs durning the year were

2012 200
£000 £9000
Wages and salaries 23,765 22,982
Social secunty costs 2,378 2277
Other pension costs 1,267 1,493
USA healthcare costs 3,170 2738
Share award costs (note 23) 131 137
30,711 29,627
Detalled disclosures of Directors' remuneration and share optrons are given on pages 42 to 55
The average number of employees (ncdluding Executive Directors) duning the year was
2012 20m
Number Number
By business segment
Protection & Defence 531 572
Dany 176 168
Other 1" 10
718 750
At the end of the financial year the total number of employees in the Group was 746 (2011 679)
2012 2m
Key management compensation £°000 £000
Salaries and other employee benefits 1A 1,076
Post employment benefits 99 79
Share award costs 83 89
1,313 1,244

The key management compensation above includes the Executive Directors plus three (2011 three) others who were members of the Group

Executive during the year

Investing in innovation
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Notes to the Group Financial Statements continued

for ihe year ended 30 Sepiember 2012

9 PENSIONS AND OTHER RETIREMENT BENEFITS

Retrement benefit assets and labilities can be analysed as follows

2012 20m
£'000 £000
Pension {liability}/asset (2,238) 280

Full disclosures are provided in respect of the UK defined benefit pension scheme below

The Group operated a contnbutory defined benefits plan to provide pension and death benefits for the employees of Avon Rubber ple¢ and

its Group undertakings in the UK employed prior to 31 January 2003 The scheme was closed to future accrual of benefit on 1 October 2009
The assets of the plan are heid in separate trustee admenistered funds and are invested by professional investment mangers The trustee is Avon
Rubber Pension Trust Limited, the Directors of which are members of the plan Four of the Directors are appointed by the Company and two are
elected by the members

Pension costs are assessed on the advice of an iIndependent consulting actuary using the projected unit method The funding of the plan s
based on iegular actuanal valuations The most recent finahsed aciuanal valuation of the plan was carmed out at 33 March 2011 when the market
value of the plan's assets was £268 3m The actuanal value of those assets represented 98 4% of the value of the benefits which had accrued to
members, after allowing for future increases in pensions

During the year the Company made payments 1o the fund of £625,000 (2011 £869,000) in respect of scheme expenses and deficit recovery plan
payments In accordance with the deficit recovery plan agreed following the 31 March 2011 actuanal valuation, the Company will make deficit

recovery payments in 2013 of £400,000 in additien to £175000 towards scheme expenses

An updated actuanal valuation for IAS 19 purposes was carned out by an independent actuary at 30 September 2012 using the projected
unit method

The main financial assumptions used by the independent qualified actuarees 1o calculate the lizbilies under IAS 19 are set out below

2012 20N

S%pa %pa

Inflation (RPi) 250 310
Inflation {CPI) 150 220
Pension increases post August 2005 190 210
Pension increases pre August 2005 250 300
Discount rate for scheme liabilities 455 500

The scheme actuary estimates a 0 1% change in the discount rate would change the value of scheme liabilities by approximately 1 5% (2011 159%)

investing in innovation
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9 PENSIONS AND OTHER RETIREMENT BENEFITS {CONTINUED)

Mortality rate

Assumptions regarding future mortality experience are set based on adwice, published staustics and expenence The average life expectancy in

years of a pensioner retinng at age 65 on the balance sheet date Is as follows

2012 2001

Male 221 22}

Female 242 242
The average Iife expectancy in years of a pensioner retining at age 65, 20 years after the balance sheet

date 1s as follows 2012 201

Male 236 235

Female 258 258

The assets i the scheme and the expected rate of return were
Long-term rate of Long-term rate of

return expected Value at return expected Value at

at 30 Sept 2012 30 Sept 2012 at 30 Sept 2011 30 Sept 201

%pa £'000 % pa £/000

£quities 795 118,882 790 115,647

Liability driven investmenis 270 80,404 330 160,806

Corporate bonds 455 31,11 - -

Other (including cash) 270 51,898 330 2,658

Average expected long term rate of return/total farr value of assets 511 282,305 561 27911

The Lizbility Driven Investment ("LOI") compnises a seres of LIBOR earning cash deposits which are combined with contracts to hedge interest

rate and inflation rate nsk over the expected life of the scheme’s habilities

*Avon Rubber employs a building block approach in determintng the long-term rate of return on pension plan assets Historical markets are
studied and assets with higher volatility are assumed to generate higher returns consistent with widely accepted capital market principles
The assumed long-term rate of return on assets 1s then denved by aggregating the expected return for each asset class over the actual asset

allccation for the plan as at 30 September 2012

AUeh
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Notes to the Group Financial Statements continved

for the year ended 30 September 2012

3 PENSIONS AND OTHER RETIREMENT BENEFITS (CONTINUED)

Reconcifiation of funded status to balance sheet Value at Value at
30 Sept 2012 305ept 2011
£000 £000
Fair value of plan assets 282,305 27911
Present value of funded defined benefit obligations (284,543} (278,831)
{Lisbility)/asset recognised on the balance sheet (2,238) 280
Amounts charged to profit before taxation in respect of post retirement benefits 2012 2011
£000 £000
Interest cost 13,602 13,277
Expected return on plan assets {13,557) (13,226)
Total charged to profit before taxation 45 33
As the plan is closed to future accrual, the total charge 1s inctuded in other finance expense
Changes to the present value of the defined benefit obligation during the year
2012 2017
£600 1000
Opening defined benefit obhgation 278,831 276989
Interest cost 13,602 13,277
Actuaniat losses on plan habilities* 5,662 2020
Net benefits paid cut {13,552) (13,455}
Closing defined benefit obligation 284,543 278,831
* Includes changes to the actuanal assumptions
Changes to the fair value of scheme assets during the year
2012 00
£000 £000
Opening fair value of plan assets 279,11 270,713
Expected return on plan assets 13,557 13,226
Actuanial gans on plan assets 2,564 7758
Contributions by the employer 625 869
Net benefits paid out {13,552) {13.455)
Closing fan value of plan assets 282,305 27911
Investing In Inhovation
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9 PENSIONS AND OTHER RETIREMENT BENEFITS (CONTINUED)

Actual return on plan assets

2012 201

£'000 £000

Expected return on plan assets 13,557 13,226

Actuanal gain on plan assets 2,564 7758

Actual return on plan assets 16,121 20984

Amounts recogmsed as other comprehensive income

2012 201

£000 £'000

Total actuanal (losses)/gains recognised as other comprehensive iIncome (3,098} 5738

Cumulative amount of actuanal gains recognised as other comprehensive income 6,442 9540
History of asset values, defined benefit ocbligation, {defiait)/surplus in scheme and expenience gains and (losses}

2012 201 2010 2009 2008

£000 £000 £ 000 £000 £000

Fair value of plan assets 282,305 279,111 270,713 253,408 261,020

Defined benefit obligation (284,543) (278831) (276989) (261,785) {217,621)

(Defait)/surplus in plan (2,238} 280 (6,276) (8,377) 43,399

2012 201 2010 2009 2008

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Expenence gains/(losses) on plan assets 2,564 7738 18,696 (10.864) 3,949

Experience (losses)/gamns on pian liabihites” {4,864) 4,357 {6,189) (1.917) (213)

*This item consists of (losses)/gains in respect of hability expenience only and excludes any change in habilities in respect of changes to the

actuanal assumptions used

In additien, commencing 1 February 2003, a defined contnibution scheme was introduced for employees within the UK The cost to the Group

in respect of this scheme for the year ended 30 September 2012 was £321,000 (2011 £309000)

investing m innovation
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Notes to the Group Financial Statements coniinued

for the year ended 30 September 2012

IO INTANGIBLE ASSETS _

Development Computer
expenditure Software Total
£'000 £'000 £'600

At 1 October 2010
Cost 14,849 1197 16,045
Accumulsted amortisation and impairment 6,201) (1,057) {7.252)
Net book amount 8,648 146 8,794
Year ended 30 September 2011
Opening net book amount 8,648 146 8,794
Exchange differences S0 5 95
Additions 3,199 152 3,351
Amorusation (1,693) (78) (1,771
Closing net book amount 10,244 225 10469
At 30 September 2011
Cost 18,147 1,268 19,415
Accumulated amortisation and impairment (7,903) (1,043) (8,946)
Net book amount 10,244 225 10,469
Year ended 30 September 2012
Opening net boek amount 10,244 225 10,469
Exchange differences (306} (6) {312)
Addrtions 4,205 492 4,697
Amortisation {1,501) (72) {1,573}
Closing net book amount 12,642 639 13,281
At 30 September 2012
Cost 21,778 1,736 23,514
Accumulated amortisation and impairment {9,136) 1,097) {10,233)
Net book amount 12,642 639 13,281

Develapment expenditure 1s amortsed over a period between 5 and 15 years
Computer software 1s amortised over a period between 3 and 4 years
The remaining useful econemic Iife of the development expenditure 15 between 5 and 12 years

Investing in Innovation
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Il PROPERTY. PLANT AND €QUIPMENT

Short Plant and
Freehelds leaseholds machinery Total
£000 £000 £ 000 £000

At 1 October 2010
Cost 599 230 33,191 34,020
Accumufated depreciation and imparment (102) (85) (16,865) (17,052)
Net book amount 497 145 16,326 16,968
Year ended 30 September 2011
Opening net book amount 497 145 16 326 16,968
Exchange differences 7 1 118 126
Additions 495 11 1950 2,456
Reclassifications (i3) 13 -
Disposals - - (16) (16)
Depreciation charge (25) (28) (2763) (2,816)
Clesing net book amount 974 16 15,628 16,718
At 30 September 2011
Cost 1,102 352 34723 36177
Accumulated depreciation and impairment (128) (236) {19,095) {19,459)
Net book amount 974 116 15,628 16,718
Year ended 30 September 2012
Opening nei book amount 974 116 15,628 16,718
Exchange differences (32) (3 (369) (404)
Additrons 218 85 4,386 4,789
Disposals - - (61) (61)
Depreciaticn charge {133) {26) (3,005) (3,164)
Closing net book amount 1,127 172 16,579 17,878
At 30 September 2012
Cost 1,382 a15 38,128 39,935
Accumulated depreciation and impainment {255) {253) (21,549) {22,057)
Net book amount 1,127 172 16,579 17,878
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Notes to the Group Financial Statements continued

for the year ended 30 September 2012

12 INVENTORIES

2012 2011

£'000 £000

Raw materials 7,814 5,703
Wark in progress 3,207 2,347
Fimshed goods 4,428 2,629
15,449 10,679

Provisions for inventory wiite downs were £1,582,000 (2011 £1,976,000)
The cost of Inventenies recognised as an expense and included in cost of sales amoeunted to £44,649,000 (2011 £49,439,000)

I3 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

2012 2m

£000 £000

Trade recevables 10,238 16,728
Less provision for imparment of recevables (381) (278)
Trade receivables — net 9,857 16,450
Prepayments 1,242 68%
Other recervables 3,517 1,322
14,616 18,461

Other recervables include £956,000 (2011 £956,000) in respect of rent deposits relating to the Company's premises in Metksham, Wiltshire, UK
The remaining balance comprses sundry recewables including accrued income

Management considers the carrying value of trade and other receivables approximates to the fair value

Movements onh the Group provision for impairment of receivables are as follows:

2012 201
£000 £000
At 1 October 278 305
Provision for/(wnteback of) impairment of recervables 13 (15)
Recevables wntien off duning the year as uncollectable (10} (12)
At 30 September 381 278

The ¢reation and release of provision for impaired recevables have been included in ‘other expenses' in the Expenses by Nature note (note 2)
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14 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

2012 2001
£000 £1000
Cash at bank and in hand 176 559

Cash at bank and in hand balances are denominated in a number of foreign currencies and earn interest based on national rates

IS TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

2012 2011

£000 £000

Trade payables 5,060 4,581
Other taxation and social secunty 241 225
Other payables 2,418 2,251
Accruals 8,029 8,163
15,748 15,220

Other payables comprise sundry rtems which are not individuatly significant for disclosure

I6 BORROWINGS
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2012 20M
£000 £000
Current
Bank overdraft - 92
Non-current
Bank loans 8,901 11,983
Total berrowings 8,901 12,375
The matunty profile of the Group's borrowings at the year end was as follows
In one year or less, or on demand - 392
Between one and two years 423 R
Between two and five years 8,478 11,983
8,901 12,375
investing in innovation 8]
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Notes to the Group Financial Statements continued
for the year ended 30 September 2012

I6 BORROWINGS (CONTINUED)

The Group has the following undrawn comritted facilities

2012 20

£000 £000
Expinng beyond one year 14,606 11,654
Total undrawn commitied borrowing facilimes 14,606 11654
Bank loans and overdrafts utilised 8,901 12,375
Uthsed in respect of guarantees 381 550
Total Group facilities 23,888 24,579

All facilities are at float:ng interest rates
On 30 September 2010 the Group agreed new bank faclitres with Barclays Bank and Comernica Bank The Barclays facility comprises a revolving
credit facility of £5m and $15 5m and expires on 30 March 2015 The Comenca facility 1s a $15m revolving credit facility and expires on 30

September 2014 These facilities are pniced on average at the appropriate currency LIBOR plus a margin of 2% and include financial covenants
which are measured on a quarterly basis The Group was in compliance with its financial covenants during 2012 and 201

The facdities are secured by charges over Group assets and certain shares in Group companies

The effective interest rates at the balance sheet dates were as follows

2012 2012 20n 20m

Sterling Dollar Sterliing Dollar

% % % 9%

Bank loans 23 20 24 20
Bank overdrafts - - 24 -

lnvestlng In Innovation
Avon Rubber pl € Annual Report and Accounts 2012 au.n

82




I7 PROVISIONS FOR LIABILITIES AND CHARGES

Property Automotive
obligatiens disposal Total
£000 £000 £.000
Balance at 1 October 2010 3383 950 4373
Unwinding of discount 392 - 392
Payments in the year (567) (990) (1,557)
Balance at 30 September 2011 3,208 - 3,208
Unwinding of discount 329 - 329
Payments in the year {544) - (544)
Balance at 30 September 2012 2,993 - 2,993
2012 20m1
Analysis of total provisions £'000 £000
Non-gurrent 2,377 2,641
Current 616 567
2,993 3,208

Property obligations include an cnerous lease provision of £2 tm in respect of unutilised space at the Group's leased Hampton Park West faciity
in the UK £0 6m of this provision 1s expected to be utihsed in 2013, and the remaining £1 5m over the following three years Other property
abligations relate to former premises of the Group which are subject to dilapidation nsks and are expected to be utibsed within the next 9 years
Property provisions are subject to uncertainty in respect of the utilisation, non-utiisation, or subletting of surplus leasehold property and the

final negouated settlernent of any dilapidation claims with landlords

The prowvision relating to certain committed productien velumes following the disposal of Automotive was fully uulised in 201
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Notes to the Group Financial Statements continued

for the year ended 30 September 2012

I8 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Financial instruments by category

Trade and other recewables {excluding prepayments) and cash and cash equivalents are classified as "loans and receivables’ Bormowings and
trade and other payables are classified as "other financial labilities at amortised cost” Both categories are initially measured at fair value and
subsequently held at amortised cost

Derwvatives {forward exchange contracts) are classied as "denvatives used for hedging” and accounted for at fair value with gains and
losses taken to reserves through the consohdated statement of comprehensive Income

Financial risk and treasury policies

The Group's treasury management team maintains hquidity, manages relations with the Group's bankers, identifies and manages foreign
exchange nsk and provides a treasury service 1o the Group's businesses Treasury dealings such as investments, borrowings and forergn
exchange are conducted only to support underlying business transactions

The Group has clearly defined policies for the managemen: of foreign exchange rate risk The Group treasury management team 1s not a
profit centre and, therefore, does not undertake speculative foreign exchange dealings for which there 1s no underlying exposure Exposures
resultting from sales and purchases in foreign currency are matched where paossible and the net exposure may be hedged by the use of forward

exchange contracts

(i) CREDIT RISK

Credit risk 1s the nisk of financial loss to the Group If a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument fails to meet 1ts contractual obligations,
and anses principally from the Group's recevables from customers and monies on deposit with financial institutions

The US Government through the Department of Defense 1s a major customer of the Group Credit evaluations are carned out on all non-
Government customers requinng credit above a certain threshold, with varying approval levels set above this depending on the value of the
sale At the balance sheet date there were no significant concentratrons of credit nsk, except in respect of the US Government noted above

Counterparty nisk anses from the use of dervative financial instruments This 1s managed through credit imits, counterparty approvals and
rngorous menitonng pl’DCEdUI’ES

Where possible, goods are sold subject ta retention of title clauses, so that in the event of non-payment the Group may have a secure claim
The Group establishes an allowance for mpairment in respect of receivables where recoverabihty 1s considered doubtful

Exposure to credit risk

The carrying amount of financial assets represents the maximum credii exposure The maximum exposure to credit nsk at the reporting date was

2012 201
Carrying amotunt £000 £'000
rade recevables 9,857 16,450
Other receivables 3,517 1322
Cash and cash equivalents 176 559
Forward exchange coniracts used for hedging

- Assets iPd 4
- Labilities - (170)
13,671 18,165

The maximum exposure to credit usk for trade recewvables at the reporting date by currency was
2012 an
Carrying amount of trade receivables £000 £000
Sterhing 2,375 1,308
US dollar 6,171 14,599
Euro 1,140 543
Other currencies 171 -
9,857 16,450
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18 FINANCIAL UMENTS (CONTINUED)

Provisions against trade receivables

The ageing of irade receivables and associated provision for impairment at the reporting date was

Gross Provision Net Gross Provision Net

2012 2012 2012 200 20m 2011

£000 £000 £'000 £000 £000 £000

Not past due 8,707 (55) 8,652 15,275 {50) 15,225
Past due 0-30 days 898 (39) 859 618 (67) 551
Past due 31-60 days 202 (52) 150 593 (46) 547
Past due 61-90 days 152 {67) 85 152 (44 108
Past due more than 91 days 279 (168) m 90 74 i9
10,238 (381} 9,857 16,728 (278 16,450

The total past due receivables, net of prowvisions 1s £1,205,000 (2011 £1,225,000)

The ndwvidually impaired recervables mainly relate to a number of Independent customers A portion of these receivables 15 expected to be
recovered

(i) LIQUIDITY RISK

Liquidity nisk is the risk that the Group will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due The Group's approach to managing
hquidity 15 to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have sufficient liguidity to meet its habilities when due, under both normal and stressed
conditions, without incurring unaccepiable losses or nsking damage to the Group's reputation

The Group uses weekly cash flow forecasts 1o monitor cash requirements and to eptimise 1ts borrowing position Typically the Group ensures
that it has sufficient borrowing facility to meet foreseeable operational expenses and at the year end had facilities of £239m (2031 £24 6m)

The following shows the contraciual maturities of financial habihties, including interest payments, where applicable, and excluding the impact
of netting agreements and on an undiscounted basis

Carrying Contrartual Less than 1-2 2-5 Morethan
amount  cash flows 12 months Years Years 5 Years
Analyss of contractual cash flow maturities £000 £000 £000 £'000 £'000 £000
30 September 2012
Bank overdraft
Secured bank loans 8,901 9,410 206 629 8,575 -
Trade and other payables 15,507 15,507 15,507 - - -
Forward exchange contracts used for hedging
- Outflow - 5,016 5,016 - - -
- Inflow {121) - - - - -
24,287 29,933 20,729 629 8,575 -
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Notes to the Group Financial Statements continved

for the year ended 30 Sepiember 2012

I8 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

Carrying  Contractual Less than 1-2 25 More than
Amount  Cashflows 12 months Years Yeats 5 Years
Analysis of contractual cash flow matunitres £000 1000 £'000 £000 £000 £000
30 September 2011
Bank overdraft 392 400 400 - - -
Secured bank loans 11,983 12708 290 290 12028 -
Trade and other payables 15,220 15,220 15,220 - - -
Forward exchange contracts used for hedging
- Qutflow 170 7572 7572 - - -
- Inflow {4) - - - - -
27,761 35900 23482 290 12128 -
(iti) MARKET RISKS

Market nisk ss the risk that changes in market prices, such as currency rates and interest rates, will affect the Group's results The objective of
market risk management 1s to manage and control nsk within suitable parameters

{a) Currency nisk

The Group I1s exposed to foreign currency risk on sales and purchases that are denominated in a8 currency other than sterling The currencies
giving rise to this nisk are pnimarily the US dollar and related currencies and the Euro The Group hedges matenal forecast US doltar or Euro
foreign currency transactional exposures using forward exchange contracts In respect of other manetary assets and habilities held in currencies
other than sterling, the Group ensures that the net exposure 1s kept to an acceptable level, by buying or selling foreign currencies at spot rates
where necessary to address short-term imbalances

The Group classifies its forward exchange contracts hedging forecasted transactions as cash flow hedges and states them at farr value through
the consolidated statement of comprehensive Income Fair value s assessed by reference 10 year end spot exchange rates, adjusted for forward
ponts associated with contracts of simitar duration The fair value of forward exchange contracts used as hedges at 30 Septernber 2012 was a
£121,000 asset (2011 a £166,000 habiity) compnising an asset of £121,000 (2011 £4,000) and a hability of il (2011 £170,000)

All forward exchange contracts in place at 30 September 2012 mature within one year

Sensitivity analysis

It1s estmated that, with all other vanables held equal {in particular other exchange raies), 2 general change of five cents in the value of the
US dollar agamnst sterling would have had a £378,000 (2011 £361,000) impaci on the Group's cuirent year profit before interest and tax and
a£274,000 {2011 £264,000) impact on the Group's profit after tax The method of estimation, which has been applied consistently, involves
assessing the translation impact of US dollar and euro cash flows

The following significant exchange rates applied dunng year

Average rate Closing rate Average rate Closing iate

2012 2012 2011 200

US dollar 1576 1615 1600 1558
Euro 1215 1255 1136 1161
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18 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

{b) Interest rate risk

The Group does not undertake any hedging activity In this area All foreign currency cash deposits are made at prevaring interest rates and
where rates are fixed the pencd of the fix 1s generally not more than one month The main element of interest rate nisk concerns borrowings
which are made on a floating LIBOR based rate and short term overdrafts in foreign currencies which are also on a floaung rate

The Group is exposed 1o interest rate fluctuations and with net debt of £8 7m (2011 £11 8m) a 1% rmovement in interest rates would impact the
interest costs by £87,000 (2011 £118,000)

The floating rate financtal habilities comprise bank loans beanng floating interest rates fixed by reference (o the relevant LIBOR or eguivalent rate

All cash deposits are on floaung rates ar overnight raies based on the relevant LIBCR or equivalent rate
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Notes to the Group Financial Statements continued

for the year ended 30 September 2012

IB FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

{(iv) CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group's cbjectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group's ability to continue as a going concern in order to provide returns

for sharehalders and benefits for other stakeholders and 1o maintain an optimal capital structure

In order 10 mantain of adjust the capital structure the Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, return caprtal to

shareholders or 1ssue new shares

The Group monitars capital on the basis of the geanng ratio, calculated as net debt divided by capital Net debt s calculated as total borrowings
tess cash and cash equivalents Total capstal 1s measured by the current market capitalisaucn of the Group, plus net debi The net debt has been
managed carefully and in conjunction with an increased market capitalisation has positively impacted the geanng ratio in 2012 as shown below

The Group’s net debt at the balance sheet date was

2012 201

£000 £000

Total borrowings 8,901 11,983
Cash and cash equivalents {176) (167)
Group net debt 8,725 11,816
Market capitahsation of the Group at 30 Sepiember 95,857 87,561
Geanng ratio 8 3% 115%

investing in innovation
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IB FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED} '

{v} FAIR VALUES

The fair values of financial assets and habilities, together with the carrying amounts shown in the balance sheet, are as follows

Carrying Fair Carrying Fair

amount value amount value

2012 2012 201 201

£000 £000 £000 { 000

Trade receivables 9,857 9,857 16,450 16,450

Other receivables 3,517 3,517 1,322 1,322

Cash and cash equivalents 176 176 559 559
Forward exchange contracts

- Assets 121 121 4 4

- Liabihttes - - (170) (170)

Secured loans {8,901) (8,901) (11,983) (11,983)

Trade and other payabfes (15,507) {15,507) (15,220) {15,220)

(10,737) {10,737) (9,038) (9,038)

Basis for determining fair value

The following summanses the significant methods and assumptions used in estimating the fair values of financial instruments reflected in the
table above

Denvatives

The fair value of forward exchange contracts is determined by using valuation techniques using vear end spot rates, adjusted for the forward
points 1o the contract’s value date No contract's value date ts greater than one year from the year end These instruments are included in level 2
n the fair value hierarchy as the valuation 1s based on inputs that are either directly or Indirectly observable

Secured lcans
As the loans are floating rate barrowings, amortised cost 1s deemed to reftect fair value

Trade and other recevables/payables
As the majority of recewvables/payables have a remaining Iife of less than ane year, the nouional amount 1s deemed to reflect the far value
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Notes to the Group Financial Statements continued

for the year ended 30 September 2072

19 SHARE CAPITA

2012 2012 2012 2001 2m 201
No of Ordinary Share No of Qrdinary Share
shares shares premium shares shares premium
£060 £000 £000 £ 000
Called up, atiotted and fully

paid ordinary shares of £1 each
At the beginning of the year 30,723,292 30,723 34,708 30,723,292 30,723 34,708
At the end of the year 30,723,292 30,723 34,708 30,723,292 30,723 34,708

Details of outstanding share options and movements i share options duning the year are given in the Remnuneration Report on pages 42-55

Ordinary shareholders are entitled to receve dividends and are enttled to vote at meetings of the Company

At 30 September 2012 1,400,642 (2011 2,537,681} ordinary shares were held by a trust in respect of obligations under the 2002 Performance
Share Plan and the 2010 Performance Share Plan Dividends on these shares have been wawved The market value of the shares held in the trust
at 30 September 2012 was £4,370,000 (2011 £7,232,000) These shares are held at cost as treasury shares and deducted from shareholders’ equity

During the year the trust acquired 90,000 (2011 100,000} shares at a cost of £275,000 (2013 £250,000) 1,225,347 shares were used to satisfy
awards following the vesting of shares relating to the 2002 Performance Share Plan
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2012 2011
£000 £000
Continuing operations ;
Profit for the inancial year 7,829 718
Adjustments for
Taxauon 3,176 3,094
Depreciation 3,164 2,816 b
Amorusation of intangible assets 1573 1,771 ‘é‘
Finance income (7} (5) g
Finance costs 249 486 o
Other finance expense 374 443 8
Loss/{profit) on disposal of property, plant and equipment 57 m Pt
Movement in respect of employee share scheme 131 137 2
(Increase)/decrease in Inventories (5,259) 1,000 ;
Decrease/{increase) in recervables 3,352 (3,543) =
Increase/f(decrease) in payables and provisions 87 (1343) g
Cash generated from continuing operations 14,726 11,974 k
Discontinued operations
Decrease in payables and provisions - (1.557)
Cash used in discontinued operations - (1,557}
fa)
w
Cash generated from operations 14,726 10,417 E
2
o
w
o
[¥¥)
=
=
£
Cash flows relating to the discontinued operations are as follows
2012 20Mm
£'000 £000

Cash flows from operating activities

.—-
=
in
o
=

Cash used in discontinued operations

aveh
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Notes to the Group Financial Statements continued

for the year ended 30 September 2012

2l ANALYSIS OF NET DEBT

This note sets out the calculation of net debt, a measure considered important in explaintng our financial position

At 10ct Exchange At 30Sept

2014 Cash flow movements 2012

£000 £000 £000 £000

Cash at bank and n hand 559 {382 [4)] 176
Qverdrafts (392) 392 - -
Net cash and cash equivalents 167 10 (n 176
Debt due in more than t year {11,983) 2,808 274 {8,901)
{11,816} 2,818 273 {8,725)

22 OTHER FINANCIAL COMMITMENTS

2012 001
£000 £000
Capital expenditure committed 608 1,021

Caprtal expenditure committed represents the amount contracted In respect of property, plant and equipment at the end of the financial year
far which no provision has been made in the financial statements

The future aggregate minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases are

2012 2012 20m 201

Land and Cther Land and QOther

buildings assets butldings assets

£000 £000 £'000 £000

Within one year 2,031 146 2,054 76
Between 1 and 5 years 6,306 156 7635 215
Later than 5 years 7,243 - 8,144 -
15,580 302 17833 292

The majonty of teases of land and buildings are subject to rent reviews

investing In Innovation
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23 SHARE BASED PAYMENTS

The Group operates an equity settled share based performance share plan (PSP) Detals of the Scheme, awards granted and options

autstanding are set out In the remuneration report on page 54 and are incorperated by reference into these financial statements The charge
against profit of £131,000 (2011 £137,000) in respect of PSP options granted after 7 November 2002 has been calculated using the Monte Carlo

prncing mode! and the following principal assumptions

2012 201

PSP PSP

Weighted average farr value (£) 028 040
Key assumptions used

Weighted average share pnce (£) 300 190

Volatility (96) {estimated based on historic expenence) 39 29

Risk-free tnterest rate (%) 247 111

Expected option term (yrs) 30 30

Divided yield (%) 10 10

Volatility 15 estimated based on actual expenence over the last three years

24 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

There were no related party transactions dunng the year or cuistanding at the end of the year Key management compensation is disclosed in

note 8
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Notes to the Group Financial Statements continued

{or the year ended 30 Seplember 2012

25 GROUP UNDERTAKINGS

Country nwhich
incorporated

Held by Parent Company

Avon Polymer Products Limited UK
Avon Rubber Overseas Limited UK
Avon Rubber Pension Trust Limited UK
Avon Darry Solutions (Shanghal) International Trading Company Ltd China

Held by Group undertakings

Avon Engineered Fabnications, Inc USA
Avon Hr-Life, Inc USA
Avon Protection Systems, Inc USA
Avon Rubber & Plastics, Inc USA
Avon-Ames Limited UK
Avon International Safety Instruments, Inc USA

Shareholdings are ordinary shares and all undertakings are wholly owned by the Group and operate primarily In therr country of iIncorperation

All companies have a year ending in September, except Avon Dairy Solutions (Shanghai) which has a year ending in December For the purpose
of the Group accounts the results are consolidated to 30 September

Avon Rubber Pension Trust Limited 1s a pension fund trustee

Avon Rubber Overseas Limited and Avon Rubber & Plastics, Inc are mvestment holding companies

The activities of all of the other companies listed above are the manufacture and/or distnibution of rubber and other polymer based products
A number of non-trading and small Group undertakings have been omitted, on the grounds of immatenahty

All UK subsidiaries are exempt from the requirement to file audited accounts by virtue of section 479A of the Companies Act 2006
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Independent Auditors' Report

Independent auditors’ report to the
members of Avon Rubber p.l.c.

We have audited the Group financial statements of Aven Rubber
plc for the year ended 30 September 2012 which compnse

the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income, the
Conschdated Balance Sheet, the Consolidated Cash Flow
Statement the Consohdated Statement of Changes in Equity, the
Accounting Pelicies and Crntical Accounting Judgements and the
related notes The financial reporting framework that has been
applied in their preparatron 1s applicable law and International
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs} as adopted by the European
Union

Respective responsibilities of directors
and auditors

As explained more fully in the Staterment of Directors’
Responsibilities set out on pages 28 and 29, the Directors are
responsible for the preparation of the Group financial statements
ang for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view Our
responsibiity 1s to audit and express an opinion on the Group
financial staternents i accordance with applicable law and
International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland) Those
standards require us to comply with the Auditing Practices Board'’s
Ethical Standards for Auditors

This report, including the opinions, has been prepared for and
only for the Company‘s members as a body in accordance with
Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006 and for no other
purpose We do not, in giving these opinions, accept of assume
responsibility for any other purpose or to any other person to
whom this report 1s shown or into whose hands it may come save
where expressly agreed by our pnior consent In writing

Scope of the audit of the financial statements

An audit iInvolves cbtaining evidence about the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements sufficient 1o give reasonable
assurance that the financial statements are free from material
misstatement, whether caused by fraud or error This iIncludes an
assessment of whether the accounting palicies are appropriate 1o
the Group's circumstances and have been consistently appled and
adequately disclosed, the reasonableness of significant accounting
estimates made by the Directors, and the overall presentation of
the financial staternents In addition, we read all the financial and
non-financial information in the Annual Report 2012 10 1dentfy
matenal inconsistencies with the audited financial statements

If we become aware of any apparent matenal misstatements or
inconsisiencies we consider the implications for our report

Opinion on financial statements
In ow opimon the Group financial statements

give a true and fair view of the state of the Group’s affairs as at
30 Septemnber 2012 and of its profit and cash flows for the year

duen

then ended,

have been properly prepared 1n accordance with IFRSs as
adopted by the European Union, and

have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the
Companies Act 2006 and Article 4 of the IAS Regulation

Opinion on other matter prescribed by
the Companies Act 2006

In our opimion

the wnformation given in the Directors’ Report for the financial
year for which the Group financial staterments are prepared Is
consistent with the Group financial statements

Matters on which we are required to
report by exception

We have nothing to report in respect of the following

Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to report to you if,
IN Qur opINIcN

- certain disclosures of direciors’ remuneration specified by law
are not made, or

- we have not received all the information and explanations we
require for our audit

Under the Listing Rules we are required (o review

the Directors’ statement, set out an page 41, n relation to going
concern,

- the part of the Corporate Governance Statement relating to
the company’s comphance with the nine prowisions of the UK
Corporate Governance Code specified for our review, and

« certain elements of the report to shareholders by the Board on
directors’ remuneration

Other matter

We have reported separately on the parent company financial
statements of Avon Rubber plc for the year ended 30 September
2012 and on the information in the Remuneration Report that 15
described as hawing been audiied

Mark Ellis

Senlor Statutory Auditor

for and on behalf of PnicewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditors
Bristo!

21 Novemnber 2012
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Independent Auditors' Report coniinued

for the year ended 30 September 2012

Independent auditors’ report to the
members of Avon Rubber p.l.c.

We have audited the Parent Company financial staterments of
Avon Rubber pl¢ for the year ended 30 September 2012 which
comprise the Parent Company Balance Sheet, the Parent Company
Accounting Policies and the related notes The financial reporting
framework that has been applied In their preparation 1s apphcable
law and United Kingdom Accounting Standards (United Kingdom
Generally Accepted Accounting Practice)

Respective responsibilities of directors
and auditors

As explaned mare fully in the Statement of Dweciors’
Responsibilities set out on pages 28 and 29, the Directors are
responsible for the preparation of the Parent Company financial
staterments and for being sausfied that they give a irue and fair
view Our responsibihity 15 to audit and express an opinion on
the Parent Company financial staterments in accordance with
apphcable law and International Standards on Auditing (UK and
Ireland) Those standards require us to comply with the Auditing
Pracuces Board’s Ethical Standards for Auditors

This report, including the opinions, has been prepared for and only
for the Parent Company’s members as a body 1 accordance with
Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006 and for no other
purpose We do not, In giving these opinions, accept or assume
responsibility for any other purpose or to any other person to
whom this report 15 shown or into whose hands it may come save
where expressly agreed by our prior consent in weiling

Scope of the audit of the financial statements

An audrt involves obtaiming evidence about the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements sufficient to give reasonable
assurance that the financial statements are free from matenal
musstaternent, whether caused by fraud or error This includes an
assessment of whether the accounting policies are appropriate to
the Parent Company's circumsiances and have been consistently
applied and adequately disclosed, the reasonableness of significant
accouniing estimates made by the Directors, and the overall
presentation of the financial statements In addition, we read

all the financial and non-financial iInformation in the Annual
Report 2012 to identify matenal nconsistencies wath the audited
financial statements if we become aware of any apparent matenat
misstatemnents or inconsistencies we consider the implications for
our report

Opinion on financial statements
In our opinion the Parent Cornpany financial staternents

give a true and fair view of the state of the Company’s affaws as
at 30 September 2012,
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- have been properly prepared in accordance with Unitec
Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice, and

have been prepared m accordance with the requirements of
the Companies Act 2006

Opinion on other matters prescribed by
the Companies Act 2006

In our opinicn

the part of the Remuneration Report 10 be audited has been
properly prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 2006,
and

the information given in the Directors’ Repart for the financral
year for which the Parent Company financial staternents are
prepared i1s consistent with the Parent Company financiat
statements

Matters on which we are required to
report by exception

We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters
where the Cornpantes Act 2006 requires us to report 1o you if, in
Qur opInion

adequate accounting records have not been kept by the
Parent Company, or returns adequate for our audit have not
been received from branches not visited by us, or

- the Parent Company financial statements and the part of the
Remuneration Report to be audited are not in agreement with
the accounting records and returns, or

certain disclosures of directors’ remuneraton specified by law
are not made, or

we have not received all the information and explanations we
require for our audit

Other matter

We have reported separately on the Group financial statements of
Avon Rubber p | c for the year ended 30 September 2012

Mark Ellis

Senior Statutory Auditor

for and on behalf of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditors
Bnistol

21 November 2012
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Parent Company Balance Sheet
at 30 Sepiember 2012
<
(17
.
w
X
2012 2012 201 20M1 -
Note £'000 £°000 £000 £000 o
=
L
Fixed Assets 2
Tangible assets 4 505 13 g
Investments 5 78,407 72,097 o
78,912 72,210
Current assets - debtors 7 52,715 47,861
Creditors - amounts falling due within one year 8 2,195 8,547
m
Net current assets 50,520 35314 g
n
Total assets less current liabilities 129,432 111,524 a
[: 4
>
Creditors - amounts falling due after more than one year g
Borrowings 9 8478 10,87¢ 2
Prowisions for habilities 10 2,993 3,208 g
11,471 14,087 g
I
Net assets 117,961 97437
Capital and reserves
Share capital n 30,723 30,723
Share premium account 12 34,708 34,708
Capital redempuion reserve 12 500 500
Profit and loss account 12 52,030 31,506
Total sharcholders’ funds 13 117,961 97437

These financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on 21 November 2012 and were signed on 1ts behalf by

Peter Slabbert

Andrew Lewis
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Parent Company Accounting Policies

for the year ended 30 Sepiember 2012

Accounting policies

The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of these
financial statements are set cut below These policies have been
consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated

Basis of preparation

The accounts have been piepared on a going concern basis and in
accordance with the Companies Act 2006, as amended and with all
applicable accounting standards in the United Kingdom (UK GAAP) under
the hrstoncal cost cenvenuon except for financial assets and hiabiites
(including dervative instruments) held at fair value through prohit and loss

As 2 consolidated statement of comprehensive income is published, a profit
and loss statement for the parent company 1s omitted from the Company
accounts by virtue of section 408 of the Companies Act 2006

The Company 1s exempt under the terms of FRST (Revised 1996), Cash Flow
Statements’ from the requirement to publisk its own cash flow statement,
as its cash flows are included within the consolidated cash flow statement
of the Group

Forelgn currencies

The Company s functional currency 1s sterhing Foreign currency
transactions are recarded at the exchange rate ruling on the date of
transaction Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the
settlement of such transactions, and from the retranslation at year end
exchange sates of monetary assets and labiliies denominated in foreign

currencies are recogrised in the profit and loss account

Deferred taxation

Deferred tax 1s recognised in respect of all uming differences that have
originated but not reversed at the balance sheet date, where transactions
or events that result in an cbligation to pay more tax in the future cr a nght

10 pay less tax in the future have occurred at the balance sheet date

A net deferred tax asset s recognised as recoverable and therefore
recognised only when, on the basis of all avallable evidence, it can be
regarded as more hkely than not that there will be suitable taxable profits
against which to recover carned forward tax losses and from which the
future reversal of underlying timing differences can be deducted

Deferred tax 1s measured at the average tax rates that are expected to apply
In the pertods in which the uming differences are expected 1o reverse,
based on tax rates and laws that have been enacted or substantvely
enacted by the balance sheet date Deferred tax s measured on an

undiscounted basis
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Impairment of fixed assets

Impairment reviews are undertaken iIf events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of the tangible fixed
assets may not be recoverable If the carrying amount exceeds its
recoverable amount {being the higher of the vafue in use and the
net realisable value) then the fixed asset 1s written down accordingly
Wheve recoverable amounts are based on value I use, discount rates
of typically between 10% and 15% are used depending on the risk
attached to the underlying asset

Investment in subsidiary undertakings

Investment in substdiary undertakings are recorded at cost plus
incidental expenses less any provision for imparment Impairment
reviews a2re performed by the Directars when there has been an
indication of potential impatrment

Leased assets
Operating lease rentals are charged against profit over the term of the
lease on a straight line basis

Pensions

The Company operates a contnbutory defined benefits plan to provide
pension and death benefits for the employees of Avon Rubber pl ¢
and ts Group undertakings In the UK employed prior to 31 January
2003 The scheme 1s now closed to new entrants and was closed tc
future accrual of benefits from 1 October 2009 Scheme assets are
measured using market values white lizbilities are measured using the
projected unit method The mult-employer exemption has been taken
and no asset of provision has been reflected in the parent company's
balance sheet for any surplus or deficit anising in respect of pension
obligations

The Company also provides pensions by contnbuting to defined
contnbution schemes The charge in the profit and loss account
reflects the contnbutions paid and payable to these schemes during
the penod Full disclosures of the UK pension schemes have been
provided in the Group Financial Statements




Provisions for liabilities

Provisicns are recognised when a habihity exists at the year end that can be
measured reliably, there 1s an obhgation to one or more third parties as a
result of past transactions or events and there 1s an obligation to transfer
economic benefits in settlfement

Provisions are calculated based on management’s best estimate of the
expeandriure required to settle the present obligation at the balance

sheet date, after due consideration of the nsks and uncertainties that
surround the underlying event Provision for reorganisation costs are made
where a detaifed plan has been approved and an expectation has been
raised in those affected by the plan that the Campany will carry out the

reorganisation

Where a leasehold property or part thereof, 15 vacan, or sub-let under
terms such that the rental Income s insufficienz to meet all outgoings,
prowsion 15 made for the antiopated future shortfall up to termination of

the lease, or the termmation payment, of smaller

Tangible fixed assets

Tangible fixed assets are stated at cost, less amounts provided for
depreciation and any provision for impairment Cost includes the original
purchase price of the asset and the costs attributable to bringing the
asset to its working condition for its intended vse Plant and machinery 15
depreciated using the straight ine method at rates varying between 6%
and 50% per annum

Related parties
The Company has taken advantage of the dispensation under FRS 8,
‘Related Party Disclosures’, not to disclose transactions or balances with

other Group companies

Share based payment

The Company operates a number of equity-settled, share based
compensation plans The fair value of the employee services received in
exchange for the grant of the options 1s recognised as an expense The total
amaount to be expensed aver the vesting period 1s deterrmined by reference
to the fair value of the options granted, excluding the impact of any non-
market vestung conditions (for example, profitabiity and sales growth
targets) Non-market vesting condinons are included in assumpuaons

about the number of options that are expected to vest At each balance
sheet date, the entity revises its estimates of the number of options that
are expected to vest It recognises the impact of the revision to onginal
estimates, If any, in the profit and loss account The proceeds received net
of any directly attnbutable transaction costs are credited to share captal
{nominal value} and share premium when the options are exeraised

Aaven

Debtors
Debtors are initially recogrised at fair value and subsequently

measured at amoriised cost after deduction of provisions for

impairment of receivables

Trade creditors

Trade creditors are obligations to pay for goods or services that have
been acquired in the ordinary course of business from suppliers Trade
creditors are classified as current habiliues if payment is due within ane
year or less {or in the normal operating cycle of the business if lenger)
If not, they are presented as amounits falling due after more than

one year They are inmially recognised at farr value and subsequently

measured at amortised cost

Financial instruments

As permitied by FRS 29, 'Financial Instruments Disclosures’ the
Company has efected not to present the disclosures required by FRS
29:1n the notes to its iIndwidual financial statements as full equivalent

disclosures are presented in the consolidated financial statements

Dividends

Final dividends are recognised as a liability in the Company’s financial
statements in the penod in which the dividends are approved by
shareholders, while interim dividends are recognised in the perod in
which the dividends are paid

Share Capital
Ordinary shares are classified as equity Incremental costs directly
attnbutable to the issue of new shares or aptions are shown i equity

as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds

Where the Company purchases its own share capital (treasury shares)
through Employee Share Ownership Trusts, the consideration paid,
including any directly attnbutable incremental costs (net of income
taxes), s deducted from shareholders’ funds untl the shares are

cancelled, reissued or disposed of Where such shares are subsequently

sold or reissued, any consideration recewved, net of any directly
atinbutable incremental transaction costs and the related income tax
effects, 15 meluded in shareholders’ funds
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Avon Rubber p | ¢ Annual Report and Accounts 2012

99

( HOW WE RUN OUR BUSINESS ) ( OVERVIEW OF THE YEAR |

[}
w
=
o
(e
u.
e
(54
a
[oN)
=
3
Q
I

|

SHAREHOLDER INFORMATION

[



Notes to the Parent Company Financial Statements

fer the year ended 30 Sepiember 2012

t PARENT COMPANY

As a conschdated statement of comprehensive Income 1s published, a separate profit and loss account for the parent Company 1s omitted
from the accounts by viriue of section 408 of the compantes Act 2006 The parent company’s profit for the financial year was £21,613,000 (2011
£145,000)

The audit fee in respect of the parent company was £30,000 (2011 £30,000)

2 DIVIDENDS

On 2 February 2012, the shareholders approved a final dvidend of 2 Op per qualifying ordinary share in respect of the year ended 30 September
2011 This was paid on 9 March 2012 absorbing £588,000 of sharehelders' funds

On 26 Apnl 2012, the Beard of Directors approved an interim dividend of 1 2p per qualifying ordinary share in respect of the year ended 30
Septernber 2012 This was paid on 7 September 2012 absorbing £353,000 of sharehclders' funds

After the balance sheet date the Board of Directors proposed a final dividend of 2 4p per qualifying ordinary share in respect of the year ended
30 September 2012, which will absorb an estimated £704,000 of shareholders' funds Subject to shareholder approval, the divdend will be paid
on 15 March 2013 to sharehelders on the regsster at the close of business on 15 February 2013 In accordance with accounting standards this
dividend has not been prowided for and there are nG corporation 1ax consequences

3 EMPLOYEES

The total remuneration and associated costs during the year were:

2012 2008

£000 £000

Wages and salaries 1,278 1,228
Social security costs 304 338
Other pension costs 299 155
Share based payments 131 137
2,012 1,858

Detailed disclosures of Directors’ remuneration and share options are given on pages 42 to 55 in the Group accounts

The average number of employees {(iIncluding Executive Directors) durning the year was 8 {2011 8}, all of whom were classified as
administrative siaff

iInvesting In INnovation
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4 TANGIBLE ASSETS

Plant and
Machinery
£000
Cost

At 1 October 2011 416
Additions at cost 489
At 30 September 2012 905

Accumulated depreciation
At 1 October 201 303
Charge for the year 97
At 30 September 2012 400
Net book amount at 30 September 2012 505
13

Net book amount at 30 September 201

5 INVESTMENTS

Investment in

Subsidraries
2012
£000

Cost and net book value
At 1 October 2011 72,097
Additions 10,018
Redemption of preference shares {3,708)
78,407

At 30 September 2012

The investments consist of a 1009 interest in the following subsidianes

Principat Country in which

activity incorporated

Avon Polymer Products Limited The manufacture and distnbution of rubber and polymer based products UK
Avon Rubber Overseas Limited Investment Company UK
Avon Rubber Pension Trust Limited Pension Fund Trustee UK
Avon Dary Soluttons (Shangha) International Trading Company Ltd Trading company China

Details of investments held by these subsidianes are given in note 25 1o the Group accounts on page 94

The addimions relate to additional capital contributions to existing subsidiaries
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Notes to the Parent Company Financial Statements continued

for the year ended 30 September 2012

6 OTHER FINANCIAL COMMITMENTS

2012 2011
£000 £000
Capital expenditures committed 72 -

Capital expenditure committed represents the amount contracted at the end of the financial year for which no provision has been made in the
financial statements

The annual commitments of the Company for non-cancellable operating leases are

2012 201
Ltand and Land and
buildings buildings
£'000 fo00

For leases expiring
Within 1 year - -
In 2-5 years 814 814
Over 5 years 153 153
967 967

The majonty of leases of land and buildings are subject to rent reviews

investing in innovation
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7 DEBTORS

2012 201

£9000 £000

Amounts owed by Group undertakings 51,054 46,334
Other debtors 976 961
Prepayments 685 566
52,715 47,861

Qther debtors include £956,000 (2011 £956,0C0) in respect of a rent deposit relating to the Company's prerises in Melksham, Wiltshire, UK The
remaining balance comprises sundry receivables which are not indiwndually significant for disclosure

8 CREDITORS - AMOUNTS FALLING DUE WITHIN ONE YEAR

2012 20m
£000 £000
Bank overdrafts 303 266
Amounts due to Group underiakings - 6,200
Other creditors 570 544
Accruals 1,322 1,537
2,195 8,547
investing in iInnovation
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Notes to the Parent Company Financial Statements coninued
for the year ended 30 September 2012

S BORROWINGS

2012 2011

£000 £000
Current
Bank overdrafts 303 266
Non-current
Bank loans 8,478 10,879
Total borrowings 8,781 11,45
The maturity profite of the Company's borrowings at the year end was as follows

2012 2m

£°000 £000
n 1 year or less or on demand 303 266
Between 1 and 2 years - R
Between 2 and 5 years 8,478 10,879

8,781 11,145

The carrying amounts of the Company's borrowings are denominated in the following currencies

2012 201

£'000 £000
Sterling 3,053 1516
US dollars 5,728 9,629

8,781 11,145

On 30 September 2010 the Company agreed new bank facilities with Bardays Bank The facility compnises a revelving credn facility of £5m
and $15 5m and expires on 30 March 2015 The facility 15 priced on average at the appropriate currency LIBOR plus 2 margin of 2% and includes
financial covenants which are measured on a quarterly basis The Company was in compliance with its financial covenants duning 2012 and 201

The facility 1s secured by charges over all group assets and certain shares in group companies
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10 PROVISIONS FOR LIABIUITIES uw
=
w
>
Property E
obligations s
£'000
Balance at 1 October 2010 3,383
Unwinding of discount 382 k—-—
Payments in the year (567) —
Balance at 30 September 2011 3,208
Unwinding of discount 329 v
Payments In the year (544) z
B
=
Balance at 30 Septernber 2012 2,993 :
>
o
z
>
o
v )
202 2011 =
Analysts of provisions £000 £000 g
T
Non-current 2,377 2,641
Current 616 567 \
2,993 3,208

Property ohhigations include an onerous lease provision of £2 1m tn respect of unutilised space at the Company's leased Hampton Park West
facility in the UK £0 6m of this provision is expected to be utihsed in 2013, and the remaining £1 5m over the following three years Other
property obligatiens relate to former premises of the Company which are subject to dilapidation nisks and are expected to be utilised within
the next 9 years Property provisions are subject to uncertainty in respect of the utilisation, non-utilisation, or subletting of surplus leasehold
property and the final negotiated settlement of any dilapidation claims with landlords

Il CALLED UP SHARE CAPITAL

[m}
o}
=
o
Qo
o
o
w
o
w
=
=
(=3
I

2012 201
£000 £000 (
Called up, allotted and fully paid ordinary shares of £1 each
30,723,292 (2011 30,723,292) ordinary shares of £1 each 30,723 30,723

SHAREHOLDER INFORMATION
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Notes to the Parent Company Financial Statements coniinued

for the year ended 30 Septemibzer 2012

I2 SHARE PREMIUM ACCOUNT AND RESERVES

Share Capital
premium redemption Profitanc

account reserve tass account Total
£ 000 £000 £000 £'000
At 1 October 2010 34,708 500 32,180 67388
Retained loss for the year - - 561 (561)
Movement in respect of employee share schemes - - 113) {113}
At 30 September 2011 34,708 500 31,506 66,714
Retained profit for the year - - 20,672 20,672
Movement in respect of employee share schemes - - (148) {148)
At 30 September 2012 34,708 500 52,030 87,238

I3 TOTAL SHAREHOLDERS' FUNDS

2012 201

£'000 £000
Al the beginning of the year 97,437 98,111
Profit for the financial year attnbutable to equity shareholders 21,613 145
Owvidends paid (941) (706)
Purchase of shares by the employee benefit trust (279) (250
Movernent in respect of employee share scheme 131 137
At 30 September 117,961 97437

At 30 September 2012 1,400,642 {2011 2,537,681) ordinary shares were heid by a trust in respect of obligations under the 2002 Performance
Share Plan and the 2010 Performance Share Plan Dividends on these shares have been waived The market value of the shares held in the trust
at 30 September 2012 was £4,370,000 (2011 £7,232,000) These shares are held at cost as treasury shares and deducted from shareholders' equity

During the year the trust acguired 90,000 (2011 100,000) shares at a cost of £279,000 (2011 £250,000)

14 SHARE BASED PAYMENTS

The Company operates an equity settled share based performance share plan {PSP) Detatls of the Scheme, awards granted and options
outstanding are set out i the remuneration report on page 54 The charge aganst profit of £131,600 (2611 £137,000) in respect of PSP options
granted after 7 November 2002 has been calculated using the Monte Carla pricing model and the following prinaipal assumptions

2012 20m

PSP PSP

Weighted average faw value (£) 028 040
Key assumptions used

Weighted average share price (£} 300 180

Volaulty (9%} (estimated based on historic experience) 39 29

Range of nsk-free interest rate (%) 247 m

Range of expected option term {yrs) 30 30

Dindend yield (9%) 10 10
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Five Year Record
for the year ended 30 September 2012
g
(V8]
-
[*T]
x
[
[T
o
=
w
2012 20m 2010 2009 2008 E
£'000 £000 £000 £000 £000 S
Revenue 106,636 107,600 117,574 100,900 54,606
Operating profit/loss} 11,621 1,136 9,255 5,509 {4,105) k—-
Exceptional operating items - - - (2,535) {8,481)
Operating profit/{loss) from continuing operations 11,621 11,136 9,255 2,974 (12,586)
Netnterest and other finance (expense)/income (616} (924) (2121 (1112 195 a
d
z
Profit/(loss) before taxation 11,005 10,212 7134 1,862 {12,391) 4
Taxation (3,176} (3,094) (2,808) (2,004) 1,259 s
=
(=]
Prefit/(loss) for the year from continuing operaticns 7,829 718 4,326 (142) (11,132) z
=
o
(Loss) for the year from discontinued operations - - - - (8,337) ;
=
Profit/(loss) for the year 7,829 718 4326 (142) (19,469) g
Profit attributable to non-controlling interest - - - 4i 6 k
Frofit/(loss) attnbutable to equity shareholders 7.829 718 4,326 (183) {19.475) S
Ordinary dividends (941) (706} - - (1,367)
Retained profit/(loss) 6,888 6,412 4,326 (183) (20,842) o
=
Intangible assets and property, plant and equipment 31,159 27,187 25762 25,199 25040 §
Net assets classified as held for sale - - - 3,082 3517 =
Working caprtal 9,278 11,714 9628 5,273 5,201 :,
Provisions (2,993) (3,208) (4,373) {6,649) (5,568) =
Pension {iability)/asset (2,238} 280 (7134) 9152) 42,640 g
Net deferred tax hability (2,584) (2,985) (2517) (1,833) (13,024) x
Net borrowings (8,725) {11,816) (12,589) (13,656) {15,139
Net assets employed 23,897 21172 8,777 2,264 42,667 k
Financed by
Crdinary share capital 30,723 30,723 30723 29143 29,141
Reserves attributable to equity shareholders (6,826) (9,551) (21,946) (26916) 12,963 =
Non-controlling interest in equity - - - 39 563 o
F
P-4
Total equity 23,897 21,172 8777 2,264 42667 E
o
Basic earnings/(foss) per share 26 9p 252p 152p ©6)p (68 4)p =
Diwvidends per share 3.2p 25p - - 48p ¥
fa)
o
I
w
o
<
I
A%

2008 1s as presented in the consolidated financial statements of that year
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Notice of Annual General Meeting

for the year ended 30 Septen

THIS DOCUMENT 1S IMPORTANT AND REQUIRES YOUR IMMEDIATE ATTENTION

If you are in any doubt as to what action you should 1ake you are recommended to
seek your own financial advice fram your stockbroker or ather independert adwiser
authonsed under the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000

If you have soid or ransferred ail of your shares in Avon Rubber p lc please forwarg
this document together with the accompanying documents as soon as possible
either ta the purchaser or transferee of ta the person who arrznged the safe or
transfer so they can pass these documents to the person wha now holds the shares

Notice I1s hereby given that the annual general meeting ("AGM") of
shareholders of Aven Rubber pl ¢ (the "Company”) will be held at
Hampton Park West, Semington Road, Melksham, Wiltshire on 7
February 2013 at 1030 am for the following purposes -

Ordinary Business
To consider and, «f thought fit, pass resolutions 1- 7 as Ordinary
Resolutions

Resolution 1
To receve the Company's accounts and reports of the Directors and
the auditors for the year ended 30 September 2012

Resolution 2

To approve the Remuneration Report of the Directors (as set out
on pages 42 to 55 of the Annual Report) for the year ended 30
September 2012

Resolution 3
To declare a final dividend of 2 4p per ordinary share as
recommended by the Directors

Resolution 4
To re-appaint David Evans as Director who retires by rotation

Resolution 5
To re-appaint Richard Wood as Director who has been appointed
since the fast AGM

Investing in innovation
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Resolution 6

Tore-appaint PrncewaterhouseCoopers LLP as auditors of the

Company, to hold office from the conclusion of this meeting until

the conclusion of the next general meeting at which accounts are

laid befcre the Company .

Resolution 7
To authorise the Directors to deterrmine the auditors’ remuneration

Special Business
To consider and 1f thought fit, pass resolution 8 as an Ordinary
Resolutton and rescluticns 9 and 10 as Special Resolutions

Resclution 8

Thatin accordance with section 551 of the Companies Act 2006 (the
‘Act’) the Directors be generally and unconditionally authorised to
allot Relevant Secunties (as defined in the notes to this resclution}
compnsing equity securities (as defined by section 560 of the Act)
up to an aggregate nominal ameunt of £10,241,097 but subject to
such exclusions or cther arrangements as the Directors may deem
recessary or expedient in relation to treasury shares, fractional
entitlements, record dates, legal or practical problems in or under
the laws of any temitory or the requirernents of any regulatory body
or stock exchange, provided that this authority shall, unless renewed,
vaned or revoked by the Company, expire on 24 March 2014 or, if
earlier, the date of the annual general meeting of the Company in
2014 save that the Company may, before such expiry, make offers or
agreements which would or might require Relevant Securiues to be
allotted and the Directors may allot Refevant Securities in pursuance
of such offer ¢r agreement notwithstanding that the authonty
conferred by this resclution has expired

This resolution revokes and replaces all unexercised authorities
previously granted to the Directors to allot Relevant Securiues
but without prejudice to any allotment of shares or grant of nghts
already made, offered or agreed to be made pursuant to such
authonities

Aaven




Resclution 9

That, subject to the passing of Resolution 8, the Directors be given
the general power to allot equity securities (as defined by section
580 of the Act) for cash, either pursuant to the authonty conferred by
Resolution 8 or by way of a sale of treasury shares, as If section 561(1)
of the Act did not apply to any such allotment, provided that this
power shall

(@) be hmited to the allotment of equity secunties up to an
aggregate nomtnal amount of £1,536,164, and

expire on 24 March 2014 or, If earlier, the date of the annual
general meeting of the Company in 2014 (unless renewed,
varied or revoked by the Cempany prior to or on that date)
save that the Company may, before such expiry make an offer
or agreement which would or might require Relevant Securities
to be allotted after such expiry and the Directors may allot
Relevant Secunties in pursuance of any such offer or agreement
notwithstanding that the power conferred by this resolution
has expired

(b

=

Resolution 10

That the Company be and is hereby unconditionally and generally
authonised for the purpose of section 701 of the Act to make market
purchases (within the meaning of 693(4) of the Act) of ordinary
shares of £1 each in the capital of the Company provided that

{a) the maximum number of shares which may be purchased

15 4,608,492,
{b) the maimum price which may be paid for each share is 1p,

daven

(€} the maximum price which may be paid for a share 15 an amount
equal to 105% {one hundred and five percent) of the average of
the middle market quotations of the Company's ordinary shares
as derved from the Offical List of the London Stock Exchange
for the 5 (five} business days immediately preceding the day on
which such share 15 contracied to be purchased, and

(d) thss authonty shall expire on 24 March 2014 or, if earlier, the
date of the annual general meeting of the Company in 2014
{except in relation 1o the purchase of shares the contract for
which was concluded befare the expiry of such authonty and
whrch might be executed wholly or partly after such expiry}
unless such authonty 1s renewed prior to such time

By order of the Board

Miles Ingrey-Counter
Company Secretary
21 November 2012
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Notice of Annual General Meeting coniinued

for the year ended 37 September 2012

Notes
(1} Informauon regarding the annual general meeting including
the information required by section 3114 of the Act, 1s available

at www avon-rubber com

2

—

A form of proxy is enclosed for use by shareholders and,
appropnate, must be deposited with the Company’s reqistrars,
Capita Reqistrars, PXS, 34 Beckenham Road, Beckenham, Kent BR3
4TV not less than 48 hours before the time of the AGM
Appointment of a proxy does not preclude a shareholder from
attending the AGM and voting In person

(3} Amember entitled to attend and vote at the AGM may appoint
one or more proxies (whao need not be a member of the
Company) to attend and 1o speak and 1o vote on his or her behalf
whether by show of hands or on a poll A member ¢an appoint
more than one proxy In relation to the meeting, provided that
each proxy Is appointed to exercise the nights attaching to
different shares held by him tn order to be valid an appointment
of proxy (together with any authonty under which 1t 1s executed
or a copy of the authanty certified notarially} must be returned by
one of the following methods
(1 n hard copy form by post, by courer or by hand to the
Company's registrars, Capita Regisirars, PX5, 34 Beckenham
Road. Beckenham, Kent BR3 47U,

() wvia www capitashareportal com, or

(m) i the case of CREST members, by utiising the CREST
electronic proxy appointment service in accordance with the
procedures set out below and in each case must be received
by the Company not less than 48 hours before the time of the
meeting

CREST members who wish to appoint a proxy or proxies through the
CREST electronic proxy appomtment service may do so for the AGM
and any adjournment thereof by using the procedures descnbed

in the CREST Manual CREST personal members or other CREST
sponsored members, and those CREST members who have appointed
a votmng service provider{s) should refer ta their CREST spensor or
voting service provider(s), who will be able 1o take the appropnate
action on their behalf

tn order for a proxy appointment, or instruction made by means of
CREST 10 be valid, the appropnate CREST message (a ‘CREST Proxy
Instruction’) must be properly authenucated in accordance with
Euroclear UK & Irefand Limited's {EUI'} specifications and must contam
the information required for such instructions, as described in the
CREST Manual Regardless of whether it relates to the appointrnent
of 2 proxy or to an amendment to the insiruction given to a
previously apponted proxy the message must, In order to be vahd,
be transmitted 50 as to be recerved by the issuer’s agent {ID RA10) by
the latest tme(s) for receipt of proxy appointments specified in this
Notice For this purpose, the ume of receipt will be taken 1o be the
time (as determmed by the timestamp applied to the message by
the CREST Applications Host) from which the 1ssuer's agent 1s able to
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retrieve the message by enquiry to CREST i the manner prescribed
by CREST The Company may treat as invahd a CREST Proxy Instructuion
in the crcumstances set out n Regulation 35(5) of the Unceruficated
Secunties Regulations 2001 CREST members and where applicable,
their CREST sponsors or voting service providers should note that EUI
does not make available special procedures m CREST for any parucular
messages Normal system tmings and imitations will therefore apply
in relation to the nput of CREST Proxy instructions 1t 1s therefore

the responsibility of the CREST member concerned to take (or, if the
CREST member 15 a2 CREST personal member or sponsored member
or has appointed a voting service provider(s) to procure that his or
her CREST sponsor or vating service provider(s) take{s)) such action as
shall be necessary 1o ensure that a message 1s transmitted by means
of the CREST system by any particular ime In this connection, CREST
members and, where applicable, their CREST sponsors or voting
service providers are referred, in particular, to those sections of the
CREST Manual concerning practical imitauons of the CREST system
and timings

(4} The nght to appoint a proxy does not apply to persons whose
shares are held on their behalf by another person and who
have been nominated to receve communication from the
Company in accordance with Section 146 of the Act ("nominated
persons”) Nominated persons may have a nght under an
agreement with the registered shareholder who holds shares on
thewr behalf to be appointed (or to have someone else appointed)
as a proxy Alternatively, if nominated persons do not have such
a nnght, or do not wish to exercise it, they may have a right under
such an agreement to give Instruchions 1o the person holding the
shares as to the exercise of voting nghts

(5) In order to be able to attend and voie at the AGM or any
adjourned meeting (and also for the purpose of calculating how
many votes a person may cast), 8 person must have his/her name
entered on the regisier of members of the Company by 6 00
pmon 5 February 2013 {or 6 00 pm on the date two days before
any adjourned meeung, ignonng non-working days) Changes
1o entries on the register of members after this ime shall be
disregarded in determining the nghts of any persen to attend or
vote at the meeting

{6) To change your proxy instructions simply submit a new proxy
appointment using the methods set out above Note that the
cut-off ume for receipt of proxy appointments {see above)
also applies in refation o amended instructions, any amended
proxy appointment received after the relevan: cut-off ume wilt
be disregarded

(7) A corporation which 15 3 member ¢can appoint cne or more
corporate representatives who may exercise, on its behaff, all
1ts powers as a member provided that no more than one
corporate representative exercises powers over the same share

aven




(8) tnder section 3194 of the Act, the Company must answer any
question you ask relating o the business being dealt with at the
meeting unless
{1 answering the guestion would interfere unduly with the
preparation for the meeting or involve the disclosure of
confidential information,

() the answer has already been given on a website in the form of
an answer to a question, or

() 1115 undesirable in the interests of the Company or the good
order of the meeting that the question be answered

(3) Appaintment of proxy by joint members
In the case of jont halders, where more than one of the joint
holders purports to appoint a proxy, only the appomntment
submitted by the most seniar holder will be accepied Senionty
15 determined by the order in which the names of the jont holders
appear in the Company's register of membess in respect of the
joint holding (the first-named being the most senior)

{10) Termunation of proxy appointments
in order to revoke a proxy instruction you will need to inform
the Company by sending a signed hard copy notice clearly stating
your intention to revoke your proxy appointment to the
Company’s registrars, Capita Registrars, PXS, 34 Beckenham
Road, Beckenham, Kent BR3 4TU In the case of a member which
15 @ company, the revecation notice must be executed under its
commoen seal or signed on its behalf by an officer of the company
or an attorney for the company Any power of attorney ar any
other authonty under which the revocation nouce 1s signed {or a
duly certified copy of such power or authonty) must be mcluded
with the revocation notice

In either case, the revocation notice must be recewed by the
Company’s registrars, Capita Registrars, PXS, 34 Beckenham Road,
Beckenham, Kent BR3 47U ne later than 5 February 2013 at 16 30am

If you attempt to revoke your proxy appointment but the
revocation s receved afier the tme specified then, subject to
the paragraph direcily below, your proxy appointment will
remain vahd

Appointment of a proxy does not preclude you from attending
the Meeting and voting in person [f you have appainted a praxy
and attend the Meeting in person, your proxy appointment will
automatically be terminated”

{11 Biographical detasls of the Directors are shown on page 25 of the
Annual Report

(12) The 1ssued share capital of the Company as at 21 November

2012 was 30,723,292 ordinary shares, carrying one vote each and
representing the total number of voting nghts in the Company

aven

(13) The following documents are available for inspecuion at the
registered office of the Company durnng normal business hours
on any weekday and will be avarlable at the place of the AGM from
15 minutes before the meeting until it ends

(I the Register of Directors” interests showing any transactions
of Directors and therr family interests in the share capiial of
the Company, and

() copies of all contracts of service under which the Executive
Dwectors of the Company are employed by the Company or
any of its subsidianes, and

(i} copes of the letters of appointment of the Non-Executive
Directors of the Company

(14) Please note that the Company takes all reasonable precautions
10 eNsUre NO vIruses are present in any electronic communication
It sends out but the Company cannot accept respensibility
for loss or damage ansing from the operng or use of any email or
attachments from the Company and recommends that the
members subject all messages to virus checking procedures prior
to use Any electronic commumication received by the Company,
incfudmg the lodgement of an electronic proxy form, that is found
te contain any virus will not be accepted

(15) Pursuant to Chapter 5 of Part 16 of the Act (sections 527 to 531},
where requested by a member or members meeting the
qualification critena set cut below, the Company must publish on
1ts website, a statement setting out any matter that such members
propose to raise at the AGM relating to the audit of the Company's
accounts (including the auditor's report and the conduct of the
audit) that are ta be laid before the AGM Where the Company 15
required to publish such a statement on its website
() 1tmay not require the members making the request 1o

pay any expenses incurred by the Company in complying with
the request,

()t must forward the statement to the Company's auditors no
later than the time the statement 1s made available gn the
Company's website, and

{n) the statement may be dealt wrth as part of the business of
the meeting

The request
{11 may be in hard copy form or n electronic form (see below),
() erther set out the statement in full or, If supporting a
statement sent by another member, clearly identfy the
statement which 1s being supported,
() must be authenticated by the persen or persons making it
{see below), and
(v} must be received by the Company at least one week before
the AGM
In order to be able to exercise the members' nght to require the
Company to pubhsh audit concerns the relevant request must be
made by
{) amemberor members having a nght to vote at the AGM and
holding at least 5% of total voting nghts of the Company, or
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Notice of Annual General Meeting continued

{or the year ended 30 Seplember 2012

() atleast 100 members having a nght to vote at the AGM and
helding, on average, at least £100 of paid up share capital each
and may be made by

a hard copy request which 1s signed by the member or
members concerned, stating their full names and addresses
and 1s sent to Hampten Park West, Semington Road,
Melksham, Wiltshire, SN12 6NB

{iv) arequest which s signed by the member or members
cencerned, stating their full names and addresses and 15 sent
by fax to 01225 896898 marked for the attention of the
Company Secretary

a request which states the full names and addresses of

the member or members concerned, sent by emat! to

mites ngrey-counter@avon-rubber com

i)

()

(16) Pursuant to section 338 of the Act, a members or members
meeting the qualification criena set out belew, may, subject
tc conditions, require the Company to give tc members nofice
of a resolution which may properly be moved and is mtended to
be moved at that meeting

The conditions are that

(3 The resolution must not, If passed, be ineffective (whether
by reason of inconsistency with any enactment or the
Company's constituticn or otherwise)

() The resolution must not be defamatory of any person,
frivolous or vexatious

The Company 15 reguired to give notice of a resolution cnce it has
receved requests that it do so fram

(% amember or members having a right to vote at the AGM and
holding at least 5% of total voting nights of the Company, or

{) atleast 100 members having a nght to vote at the AGM and
holding, on average, at least £100 of paid up share capital each
and may be made by

() a hard copy request which 1s signed by the member or
members concerned, stating therr full names and addresses
and is sent to Hampton Park West, Semington Road,
Melksham, Wikishure, SN12 6NB

() arequest which is signed by the member or members
concerned, stating therr full names and addresses and 1s sent
by fax to 01225 B96898 marked for the attention of the
Company Secretary

() arequest which states the full names and addresses of
the member or members concerned, sent by email to
miles Ingrey-counter@avon-rubber com

The request
(0 must identify the resolution of which notice 1s to be given
by either setting out the resolution in full or, if supporting a
resolution sent by another member, clearly identifying the
resclution which 1s being supperted, and

investing 1n Inhovation

Avon Rubber pl ¢ Annual Repert and Accounts 2012

() must be received by the Company not later than 6 weeks befcre
the date of the meeting

Explanatory notes

Resolution 1 — Report and Accounts

The Directors are required by law to present to the AGM the accounts,
and the reports of the Directors and Auditors, for the year ended 30
September 2012 These are contaned in the Company’'s 2012 Annual
Report

Resolution 2 — Rermuneration Report

The Company 15 required to ask shareholders to approve the Directors’
Remuneration Report for the year ended 30 September 2012 This s
contained on pages 42 to 55 of the Annual Report

Resolution 3 - Declaration of a dividend

A final dvidend can only be paid after the shareholders have approved

it at a general meeting  if the meeting approves this Resolution, a

final dividend in respect of the financial year ended 30 September |
2012 of 2 4p will be paid |

Resotutions 4&5 - Election and re-election of Drrectors

Dawid Evans retires by rotation and, being eligible, offers himself for
re-election

Richard Weod has been appointed as a Director (with effect from 1
December 2012) and in accordance with the Company’s Articles, retires
at this year's AGM and Resolutron 5 proposes his reappointment

Sir Richard Needham will retire at the AGM and will not stand for re-
election

Resolution 6&7 — Reappomtment and remuneration of Auditors
Resolutions 6&7 propose the reappointment of
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP as Auditor of the Company and authorise
the Directors to set thetr remuneration

Resoluticn 8 - Directors' authority o allot

This Resolution deals with the Directors’ authonty to allot Relevant
Securities in accordance with section 551 of the Companies Act w
2006 The authonty granted at the last AGM 15 due to expire at the

conclusion of this year’s AGM and accordingly it 1s proposed to

renew this authonty This Resolution complies with guidance 1ssued

by the Association of British Insurers and wall, if passed, authonse

the Directors to allot Relevant Secunities up to a maximum nominal

amount of £10,241,097, which 15 equal to approximately one-third of

the 1ssued share capital of the Company as at 21 November 2012

The authority granted by this resolution will expire on 24 March 2014
or, if eariter, the date of the next AGM

The Directors have no present intention of exercising this authonty
except in connection with the Company's employee share schemes




In this resolution, Relevant Securities means
(0 shares in the Company other than shares allotted pursuant to

- an employee share scheme (as defined by section 1166 of
the Act),
- a night to subscribe for shares in the Company where the
grant of the right itself consttuted a Relevant Security, or
- a nght to convert securities into shares in the Company
where the grant of the nght itself constituted a Relevant
Securty, and

any right to subscnbe for or to convert any secunty into shares
Iin the Company other than nghts 1o subscribe for

or convert any secunty into shares allotted pursuant to

an employee share scheme (as defined by section 1166 of

the Act) References 1o the allotrent of Relevant Securitres in
this resobution include the grant of such nghts

()

Resclution 9 - Disapplication of pre-emption nghts

This Resolution will, If passed give the Directors power, pursuant to
the authority to allot granted by Resclution 8 to allot equity securnities
(as defined by section 560 of the Comparies Act 2006) or sell treasury
shares for cash withaut first offering them to existing shareholders

in proportion to ther existing holdings up to a maximum nominal
amount of £1,536,164 which represents approximately 5% of the
Company's 1ssued share capial as at 2! Novernber 2012 and renews
the authenity given at the AGM in 2012

In comphance with the guidelines issued by the Pre-Emption Group,
the Directors will ensure that, other than in relation to a rights sssue,

ne more than 75% of the issued ordinary shares wilt be allotted for
cash on a non pre-emptive basis over a roling three year penod unless
shareholders have been notified and censulted in advance

This Resolution complies with relevant guidance 1ssued by the
Pre-Empuion Group and the Association of British Insurers

The power granted by this Resolution will expire on 24 March 2014 or,
if earlier, the date of the next annual general meeting of the company

Resolutton 10 — Authority to purchase own shares

This resolution seeks authonty for the Company to make market
purchases of its own shares and 15 proposed as a special resotution

If passed, the resclution gives authority for the Company to purchase
up to 4,608,492 ordinary shares of £1 each, representing just under
15% of the Company's 1ssued ordinary share capital as at 21 November
2012

The resolution specifies the minimum and maximum prices which
may be paid for any ordinary shares purchased under this authority
The authority will expire on the earlier of 14 March 2014 and the
Company's 2014 annual general meeting

As of 21 Novemnber 2012 there were options to subscribe outstanding
over 1,450,169 ordinary shares, representing 4 72% of the Company’s
ordmnary 1ssued share capital If the authonty given by Resolution 10
were to be fully exercised, these options would represent 5 55% of
the Company’s ordinary 1ssued share capital after cancellation of the
re-purchased shares As of 21 Novemnber 2012 there were no warrants
outstanding over ordinary shares

The Directors intend to exercise the power given by Resotution 10
anly when, in the ight of market conditions prevailing at the time,
they believe that the effect of such purchases will be to increase
the underlying value per share having regard to the intent of the
guidelines of Institutional Investors and that such purchases are

In the best interests of sharehelders generally Other investment
opportunities, appropnate geanng levels and the overall position of
the Company will be taken into account before deciding upon this
course of action Any shares purchased in this way will be cancelled
and the number of shares in 1ssue will be reduced accordingly

Bonus and incentive scheme targets for executive Directors would
not be affected by any enhancement of earnings per share following a
share re-purchase

In the opinion of the Directors, Resolution No 1015 1n the best
interests of the shareholders as a whole and the Duectors mtend to
seek renewal of these powers at subsequent AGMs
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